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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County
January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019

Board of Commissioners
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County
Ellensburg, Washington
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 29, 2020.
As discussed in Note 2 to the 2018 financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2018,
the District implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.
As discussed in Note 13 to the 2019 financial statements, in February 2020, a state of emergency
was declared that could have a negative financial effect on the District.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements, we considered the District’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s
internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
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or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of the District’s compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
District’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control
and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. However,
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this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited. It also serves to
disseminate information to the public as a reporting tool to help citizens assess government
operations.

Pat McCarthy
State Auditor
Olympia, WA

September 29, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County
January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019

Board of Commissioners
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County
Ellensburg, Washington

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas
County, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed
on page 10.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
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due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the District’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Matters of Emphasis
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2018, the District adopted new accounting
guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.
As discussed in Note 13 to the 2019 financial statements, in February 2020, a state of emergency
was declared that could have a negative financial effect on the District.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis and required supplementary information listed on page 10
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
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standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING
STANDARDS
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
September 29, 2020 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Pat McCarthy
State Auditor
Olympia, WA

September 29, 2020
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FINANCIAL SECTION
Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County
January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 2019
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 2018

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statement of Net Position – 2019
Statement of Net Position – 2018
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – 2019
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – 2018
Statement of Cash Flows – 2019
Statement of Cash Flows – 2018
Notes to Financial Statements – 2019
Notes to Financial Statements – 2018

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Employer’s Share of the Net Pension Liability – PERS Plan1 and PERS
Plan 2/3 – 2019
Schedule of Employer’s Share of the Net Pension Liability – PERS Plan 1 and PERS
Plan 2/3 – 2018
Schedule of Contributions – PERS Plan 1 and PERS Plan 2/3 – 2019
Schedule of Contributions – PERS Plan 1 and PERS Plan 2/3 – 2018
Notes to PERS Plan Schedules – 2019
Notes to PERS Plan Schedules – 2018
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios – PEBB – 2019
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios – PEBB – 2018
Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule – 2019
Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule – 2018
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Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, Washington
December 31, 2019
The following is the discussion and analysis of the financial activities of Public Utility District No.
1 of Kittitas County (the District) for the year ended December 31, 2019. It is designed to be used
in conjunction with the financial statements, notes, and other supplementary information.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
•

•

•

•

•

•

•
•



Credit ratings are as follows:
• Moody’s – A1
• Standard & Poor’s – A
• Fitch – N/A
A Strategic Planning Retreat was held in August. The Commission outlined goals for the
District in 5 areas, including financial position, customer service, system reliability,
workforce development, and risk mitigation. The District began projects in 2018 to upgrade
the Jenkins Substation and in 2019 to increase capacity at the Auvil Point of Delivery.
These projects will create redundancy and improve system reliability.
Legislation effective beginning July 2019 requires utilities to offer customer Net Metering
at a level equal to 4% of the 1996 peak load, up from 1% in prior years. The District had
previously exceeded the new state requirement by serving customers in a wholesale
Distributed Generation rate. These customers were transferred to the Net Metering program
to meet the 4% requirement on a first-come, first-served basis.
As a full-requirements customer of Bonneville Power Administration (BPA), District rates
are generally increased to coincide with BPA increases. The BP-20 Rate Proceeding set
power and transmission rates for the fiscal years 2020-2021 period. The District studied
the expected 6.3% rate impact and determined the revenue requirements. The Commission
approved a 4.99% rate increase effective for the November billing cycle.
The Line Extension Policy is a tool to aid Commissioners, staff, and customers in fully
understanding the rules and requirements of line extensions and to ensure that District
power sales are not subsidizing line extensions. Customers requesting line extensions or
changes in services are responsible for the associated cost. Revenue increases with the
number of new services. During 2019, over 125 new services were connected and
$1,425,320 in Capital Contributions was recognized.
Debt Service Coverage (DSC) demonstrates the ability to meet debt obligations even under
unusual conditions. Bond covenants require a DSC of at least 1.25. The current DSC for
the District is 2.10. The District produced a positive change in net position of $2.4m and
achieved a more than 60% Equity ratio. These key measures establish indicators of the
District’s financial strength.
To meet the aggressive capital program the District reduced cash reserves. The District
needed to establish a $6m line of credit to bridge cash flow needs and maintain 120 Days
Cash on Hand. The line of credit was used to refund the 2009 Bonds in December.
The District has a 10-year Work Plan totaling $48,225,034, of which $15,779,882 is
expected to occur in the next three years. Future expenditures include completion of the
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•

•

Jenkins substation, a new Bettas substation, facility improvements, vehicle replacement,
system improvements, and redundancy.
During 2019, the Commission approved an amendment to the budget authorizing an
additional $1.55m of expenditures over the original approved budget. Excess expenditures
were related to a record-high number of customer line extensions, including associated
inventory and special equipment purchases; unfinished and unbudgeted 2018 projects that
carried over into 2019; design changes to the Jenkins Substation Replacement and Upgrade
project; and an increase in labor costs related to power distribution construction.
Cases of a novel coronavirus, the cause of a global pandemic, were first confirmed in
Washington State in January 2020 and began to spread, resulting in an emergency
proclamation by Governor Jay Inslee in February. As the deadly and highly contagious
virus has continued to spread throughout the state and the country, the Governor has
instituted restrictions beginning in March, intended to slow the progression of the virus.
These restrictions include closing businesses and organizations deemed nonessential. The
District is considered essential and has continued modified operations, closing the lobby to
the public and requiring most employees to work from home. A small number of employees
conducting essential functions continue to report to headquarters, while practicing social
distancing and increased sanitation. The District has granted relief to its customers who
may be experiencing financial difficulties by halting disconnections due to failure to pay,
as well as fees related to late payments. The coronavirus pandemic did not affect the 2019
financials.

Capital projects completed during 2019 include:
Vantage Highway Reconductor Project – Nearly three miles of three-phase copper distribution
line and Rea construction specifications was replaced in 2019. The replacement line is stranded
aluminum lines built to current specifications, including a lowered neutral, fiberglass arms, clamp
pins, and raptor/wildlife protection. This line is a main feeder built along a busy two-lane highway.
This feeder is the normal source of power for the town of Vantage, Washington.
Feeder E2 Relocation Project – As part of a federal project to reclaim flood zone, natural habitat,
and drainage, the District retired 1.3 miles of three-phase stranded aluminum lines built to current
specifications and installed two miles three-phase distribution line around the reclaimed land. The
replacement line is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including a lowered
neutral, fiberglass arms, clamp pins, and raptor/wildlife protection. The relocation project started
in 2018 and was completed in 2019. The District received contributions in aid of construction for
all related costs.
Bynum Road Upgrade Project – Approximately one mile of single-phase copper distribution
line and Rea construction specifications with a three-phase distribution line was replaced in 2019.
The replacement line is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including a
lowered neutral, fiberglass arms, clamp pins, and raptor/wildlife protection. This line was replaced
in conjunction with a customer request for three phase load and included customer contribution
for portions of the cost.
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Ley Road Relocation Project – Approximately a half-mile of inaccessible single-phase copper
distribution line and Rea construction specifications with a single-phase distribution line was
replaced. The replacement line is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including
a lowered neutral, clamp pins, and raptor/wildlife protection. The line is accessible and improves
reliability.

Overhead Conductor and Pole Replacement Projects – Aging poles and lines were replaced
throughout the District system. The upgrades improve the reliability, access and capacity of the
lines. In addition, they reduce the line losses by improving load balance. Below is a list of the
project areas:
x Copper conductor replacements (14.7 miles installed)*
x Other single pole locations (229 new poles installed)*
*Vantage Hwy, Feeder E2, Bynum Road, and Ley Road projects listed above are included here.
Jenkins Substation Replacement and Upgrade Project – Increased station capacity, added oil
containment system, voltage regulation, system protection, and improved communications are
included in the replacement and upgrade project. The construction is 90% complete and will allow
for parallel operation and improved redundancy between Smithson and Jenkins substations.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of the District provide a broad overview of finances and report the
activities of the District. The sale of electrical energy and construction of the infrastructure for
delivery of energy are the major functions. The District reports finances similar to private sector
business enterprises using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Under this basis of accounting,
revenues are recognized in the period they are earned, and expenses are recognized in the period
they are incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
The Statement of Net Position includes all the District’s assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. It provides information about the nature and amounts
of investments in resources and the obligations to creditors of the District.
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position provides the operating results,
non-operating revenues and expenses, as well as capital contributions.
The Statement of Cash Flows provides information about the District’s cash receipts and cash
payments during the year. This statement reports net changes in cash resulting from operations,
investing, and financing activities.
The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the information provided in the three statements described above.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE
Financial health of the District can be measured by changes in net position. The District’s Net
Position is the difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources and the total of
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Increases or decreases are one indicator of the
financial health. Other non-financial factors should be considered also.
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The following analysis provides a two-year comparison of key financial information:

CONDENSED COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
2019
$ 4,173,328
1,645,595
34,136,750
2,080,499
206,209
42,242,381

2018
$ 6,335,234
1,555,942
29,702,908
1,671,167
208,366
39,473,617

3,132,500
11,508,771
353,764
14,995,035

3,483,904
10,923,481
299,926
14,707,311

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

23,202,851
1,218,790
2,825,705
$ 27,247,346

19,121,849
1,147,349
4,497,108
$ 24,766,306

Sales of Electricity
Other Revenues
Total Revenues

$ 10,591,806
358,799
10,950,605

$

Current Assets
Restricted Assets - Current
Net Utility Plant
Other Assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total Liabilities

9,891,274
235,129
10,126,403

Power Costs
Other Operating Expenses
Total Operating Expenses

4,415,114
5,458,850
9,873,964

4,050,769
4,219,322
8,270,091

Non-Operating Revenues and (Expenses)
Capital Contributions
Change in Net Position
Total Net Position - Beginning of Year
Total Net Position - End of Year

(20,921)
1,425,320
2,481,040
24,766,306
$ 27,247,346

5,538
864,836
2,726,686
22,039,620
$ 24,766,306

Note: 2018 Board-designated funds have been reclassified from Restricted Assets – Current to
Current Assets.
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ASSETS
Total Current Assets has seen a reduction of approximately 26% from 2018. This was due in large
part to a reduction of unrestricted Cash, which was depleted by $1.2m as the District pursued its
aggressive capital plan. In addition, although total Investments remained comparable to 2018, there
was a significant shift from Current to Noncurrent as specific investments were called during 2019
and the funds reinvested. $332,000 of 2018 prepayments for a transformer at Jenkins Substation
were transferred to Construction Work in Progress when the transformer was received in 2019,
resulting in a reduction in Prepaid Expenses. A 23% increase in Inventory due to an increase in
minimum reorder points slightly offset the total decrease in Current Assets.
Net Utility Plant increased from 2018, with over $2m of CWIP expenditures related to the Jenkins
Substation Replacement and Upgrade project. There was an upsurge in customer line extensions
in 2019, with 127 projects amounting to $1,425,320 completed during the year.

LIABILITIES
Overall Current Liabilities slightly decreased in 2019. Prepaid warehouse-related expenses of
nearly $100,000 were included in Unearned Revenue in 2018, whereas in 2019, the prepaid
balance is zero. This fluctuation is a function of District allocation of overhead on material
inventory. The District experienced a decline in the current portion of long-term debt due to the
refunding of the 2009 bonds.
Noncurrent Liabilities fluctuates for principal payments on bond indebtedness annually based on
repayment schedules. Net other postemployment benefit obligation is primarily related to the
District’s participation in PEBB medical and dental benefit plans provided by the Washington
State Health Care Authority.
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Deferred inflows of resources are primarily related to the District recording its proportionate share
of the increase in deferred inflows for the PERS plans provided by the Department of Retirement
Systems.
Current ratio was 1.33 and 1.82 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

LONG-TERM DEBT
In 2019 the District established a $6m line of credit, drawing $3.7m to refund the 2009 bonds and
cover capital expenditures, resulting in an overall increase of approximately $500k in long-term
debt. New construction, ordinary replacements, and minor upgrades of systems are funded by
reserves and current rates whenever possible, except for in the case of major capital upgrades and
expansions.

BONDSPAYABLEANDNETUTILITYPLANT

$40,000,000

$5,000,000
$4,500,000

$35,000,000

$4,000,000
$30,000,000
$3,500,000
$25,000,000

$3,000,000
$2,500,000

$20,000,000

$2,000,000

$15,000,000

$1,500,000
$10,000,000
$1,000,000
$5,000,000

$500,000
$Ͳ

$Ͳ
2016
DebtService

2017
IncreaseinUtilityPlant

2018
CIAC

2019
BondsPayable

DEBTSERVICE,INCREASEINUTILITYPLANT,ANDCIAC

FinancingUtilityPlant

NetUtilityPlant

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets and Restricted Net Position fluctuate with bond issuances, bond
payments, and capital projects capitalized. Net investment in capital assets, net of related debt,
increased by $4.1m.
Net Position increased in 2019 and 2018. Unrestricted Net Position can be used to finance the dayto-day operations of the District and is increased and decreased by earnings. The Board has
designated funds for vehicle replacement. These funds are not subject to external restrictions like
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bond covenants or third-party contractual agreements, and as such are not included in Restricted
Net Position.

STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Total Sales of Electricity increased in 2019, as did sales within every individual rate category
except for Irrigation. The accuracy of electronic meter reads allows matching revenues to the cost
of power more accurately. The District’s rates increased in November 2019 and remain lower than
the national and state averages. The District reached the maximum capacity of Washington’s
renewable energy cost recovery program referred to as “Legacy” in 2016. Again in 2018, the
maximum capacity of the new state program for District customers was reached; in 2019, the
District once more reached the updated capacity requirements for the new program based on new
legislation effective in July.
Other electric revenue increased in 2019 with an uptick in conservation revenue received from
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA), which was largely paid out to customers for certain
conservation-related projects or purchases.

In 2019, total operating costs increased by 19% after decreasing by 5% in 2018. Cost of power
increased by $364,345 and remains at 42% of electric revenue. The District is a Distribution system
only, purchases more than 90% of power costs from BPA, and demonstrates a willingness and
ability to adjust rates in response to the BPA increases.
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A large portion of the increase in operating costs was a result of Distribution Operations &
Maintenance Expenses, which increased by 72% from the prior year due to tree trimming
expenses, as well as a myriad of Engineering and Operations staffing changes. Administrative &
General Expense also increased by 33%, which is attributable to increased labor expense and shifts
in categorization, outside professional services employed, and computer hardware purchased.
Total wages have increased by 15% relative to 2018 as several positions that had previously been
empty were filled during 2019. Staffing levels, PTO cash-outs, wage increases, and changes in
positions continue to create fluctuations by department and category. Limited staff fulfilling
multiple positions increases the volatility and probability of variances between expense accounts.
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LaborbyDepartment
$469,000
$516,000
$79,000

$260,000

$355,000

$90,000

$91,000

$336,000

$367,000

$941,000

$886,000

$102,000
$422,000

$297,000

$707,000

Outside

Office

Commissioners

$959,000

Management

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) include interest income, interest expense, and miscellaneous
other items. Interest expense constitutes the majority of the expense, and in 2019 it includes
additional expenses for a financial advisor and legal fees related to the new debt.
Net income following capital contributions increased due to increased operating revenues and
Capital Contributions.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
This report is designed to provide the District’s customers, bondholders, creditors, and other
interested parties with a general overview of the District’s finances. If you have questions about
this report or need additional information, contact the District’s Finance Department at Kittitas
County PUD #1, 1400 Vantage Highway, Ellensburg, Washington, 98926.
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Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, Washington
December 31, 2018
The following is the discussion and analysis of the financial activities of Public Utility District No.
1 of Kittitas County (the District) for the year ended December 31, 2018. It is designed to be used
in conjunction with the financial statements, notes and other supplementary information.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•



Credit ratings are as follows:
• Moody’s – A1
• Standard & Poor’s – A
• Fitch – N/A
The District’s strategic plan covered 2016-2017 and supports the Mission and Vision Statements.
Commissioners and staff identified eight objectives to use in evaluating the District’s overall
performance. The plan focuses on safety, reliability, customer service, asset management,
reasonable cost-based rates, financial sustainability, workforce development and governance.
The State’s legacy renewable energy system cost recovery program reached maximum capacity
during 2016. The District placed a moratorium on new services and proportionally reduced current
incentives. A new program was started under RCW 82.16.165 in 2017 and reached full capacity in
2018. WSU became the administrators of the renewable energy cost recovery incentive program
October 2017.
The revenue increase realized in 2017 due to extreme winter temperatures was sustained in 2018
as the customer base increased. Three new Large Commercial customers comprise the largest
increase in revenue.
The Line Extension Policy is a tool to aid Commissioners, staff and customers in fully
understanding the rules and requirements of line extensions and to assure that the District power
sales are not subsidizing line extensions. Customers are responsible for the cost of line extensions
and requested changes in services. Revenue increases with the number of new services. During
2018, over 100 new services were connected and $864,836 was recognized as Capital
Contributions.
Investment Income increased 2.5 times during 2018. Many factors contributed to the increase. An
Investment Broker was hired, cash reserves were maintained to assure future maintenance projects
on substations and infrastructure can be realized and market rates experienced an upward trend.
Debt Service Coverage (DSC) demonstrates the ability to meet debt obligations even under unusual
conditions. Bond covenants require 1.25. The current DSC for the District is 2.65. The District
produced a positive change in net assets of $2.7m and achieved a more than 60% Equity ratio.
These key measures establish indicators of the District’s financial strength.
In 2018 the District utilized cash reserves to meet capital project goals. As a need for borrowing
arises the District shall maintain 120 days cash on hand and bridge the gap with short term
financing. Kittitas PUD has reduced debt by 32% since 2010.
The District has a 10-year Work Plan totaling $33,192,335, of which $13,621,955 is expected to
occur in the next three years. Future expenditures include substation rebuilds, a new substation,
facility improvements, vehicle replacements, system improvements and redundancy.
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Capital projects completed during 2018 include:
Naneum Road Re-conductor Project – Approximately two miles of three-phase copper
distribution line and Rea construction specifications was replaced in 2018. The replacement line
is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including a lowered neutral, fiberglass
arms, clamp pins and raptor/wildlife protection. This line is a main feeder built along a busy county
road. The line will eventually provide redundancy and load shifting capabilities between Parke
Feeder 2 and Jenkins Feeder 1. It is a continuation of a section of line completed in 2016 and 2017.
State Route 97 Re-conductor Project – Approximately one mile of single-phase copper
distribution line and Rea construction specifications with a three-phase distribution line was
replaced. The replacement line is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including
a lowered neutral, fiberglass arms, clamp pins and raptor/wildlife protection. This line is a main
feeder built along a busy state route. The line improves the system balance, adds capacity and
improves reliability.
Burke Road Upgrade Project – Approximately a half mile of single-phase copper distribution
line and Rea construction specifications with a three-phase distribution line was replaced. The
replacement line is stranded aluminum lines built to current specifications, including a lowered
neutral, fiberglass arms, clamp pins and raptor/wildlife protection. This line is a future main feeder
tie between Teanaway Feeder 1 and Smithson Feeder 2. The line improves the system balance,
adds capacity and improves reliability.

Overhead Conductor and Pole Replacement Projects – Aging poles and lines were replaced
throughout the District system. The upgrades improve the reliability, access and capacity of the
lines. In addition, they reduce the line losses by improving load balance. Below is a list of the
project areas:
x Copper conductor replacements (14.5 miles installed)*
x Other single pole locations (293 new poles installed)*
*Naneum Road, State Route 97 and Burke Road projects listed above are included here.
Teanaway Substation Transformer Replacement Project – The District identified four banked
single-phase transformers showing signs of deterioration and potential failure under load. The
single-phase units were replaced with one three-phase unit of equivalent size. The work of the unit
was completed during the night with customers experiencing only short outages.
Jenkins Substation Replacement and Upgrade Project – The District contracted for
engineering services to design the replacement station and project manage the construction
planned for 2019. The project increases station capacity, improves the oil containment system,
adds voltage regulation and improves system protection. The power transformer was bid and
purchased in 2018. Delivery of the power transformer is expected in May 2019.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The District financial statements provide a broad overview of finances and report the activities of
the District. The sale of electrical energy and construction of the infrastructure for delivery of
energy are the major functions. The District reports finances similar to private sector business
enterprises using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Under this basis of accounting, revenues are
recognized in the period they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period they are
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
The Statement of Net Position includes all of the District’s assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. It provides information about the nature and amounts
of investments in resources and the obligations to creditors of the District.
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position provide the operating results,
non-operating revenues and expenses, as well as capital contributions.
The Statement of Cash Flows provides information about the District’s cash receipts and cash
payments during the year. This statement reports net changes in cash resulting from operations,
investing and financing activities.
The Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the information provided in the three statements described above.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE
Financial health of the District can be measured by changes in net position. The District’s Net
Position is the difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources and the total of
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Increases or decreases are one indicator of the
financial health. Other non-financial factors should also be considered.
The Board approved a Vehicle Replacement Policy requiring designated funds and purchased
Investments in 2018. Unrestricted Cash was reduced by 77% due to both of these actions.
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The following analysis provides a two-year comparison of key financial information:

CONDENSED COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
2018
$ 5,685,176
2,206,000
29,702,908
1,671,167
208,366
39,473,617

2017
$ 8,215,168
1,698,957
26,733,412
150,342
200,554
36,998,432

3,483,904
10,923,481
299,926
14,707,311

2,783,599
12,018,713
156,501
14,958,813

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

19,121,849
1,147,349
4,497,108
$ 24,766,306

15,289,773
1,260,210
5,489,637
$ 22,039,620

Sales of Electricity
Other Revenues
Total Revenues

$

$

Current Assets
Restricted Assets - Current
Net Utility Plant
Other Assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total Liabilities

Power Costs
Other Operating expenses
Total Operating expenses
Non-operating revenues and (expenses)
Capital Contributions
Change in Net Position
Total Net Position - beginning of year
Total Net Position – end of year

9,891,274
235,129
10,126,403

9,856,360
181,576
10,037,936

4,050,769
4,219,322
8,270,091

4,158,318
4,457,335
8,615,653

5,538
864,836
2,726,686
22,039,620
$ 24,766,306

(128,639)
583,159
1,876,803
20,162,817
$ 22,039,620

Note: As a result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 during 2018, the 2017 financial
statements have been restated as described in Note 12.
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ASSETS
The purchase of Investments in 2018 reduced Current Assets. Restricted cash increased in 2018
with the creation of a Vehicle Replacement Fund. Accounts receivable and inventory remained
comparable to the previous year. The District prepaid a power bill and made advance payments on
a substation transformer, creating an increase in prepayments. Overall Current Assets decreased
in 2018 with the largest reduction in cash and cash equivalents.
Plant investments of $4.2m are offset by depreciation and retirements with a net increase in Utility
Plant. In addition to capital projects to maintain and improve the infrastructure, vehicles were
purchased in 2018 for $660,071 and customer line extensions totaled $864,836. Capital additions
compared to depreciation resulted in a 357% increase, exceeding the District’s stated goal of 120%.

ContributioninAidtoConstruction
1000000
900000
800000
700000
600000
500000
400000
300000
200000
100000
0

864,836
103
78

120
100
80

$583,159

56
60
$294,256

$374,760

40

31

20

2015

2016

2017

2018
0

1
Year

2
AidtoConstructionPaid

3

4
NewServices

LIABILITIES
Overall Current Liabilities increased approximately 25% in 2018, with the largest increase in
accounts payable. Higher accruals at year end are due to normal fluctuations of operations and
timing of billings. A vehicle was purchased December 31st for $336,000 and contractors were on
site at year end.
Noncurrent Liabilities fluctuates for principal payments on bond indebtedness annually based on
repayment schedules. Net other postemployment benefits obligation is primarily due to the
District’s participation in PEBB medical and dental benefit plans provided by the Washington
State Health Care Authority.
Deferred inflows of resources are primarily due to the District recording its proportionate share of
the increase in deferred inflows for the PERS plans provided by the Department of Retirement
Systems.
Current ratio was 1.63% and 2.96% for 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt decreased in 2018 following annual scheduled payments of bond principal totaling
$879,735. Management has consciously worked to upgrade the infrastructure, maintain
competitive rates and reduce long-term debt. With the exception of major capital upgrades and
expansions, new construction, ordinary replacements, and minor upgrades of systems are funded
by reserves and current electric rates whenever possible.
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NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets and Restricted Net Position fluctuate with the issuance of Bonds,
Bond payments and Capital Projects capitalized. Net investment in capital assets, net of related
debt, increased by $3.8m.
Net Position increased in 2018 and 2017. Unrestricted Net Position can be used to finance the dayto-day operations of the District and is increased and decreased by earnings. The Board designated
funds for vehicle replacement. These funds are not subject to external restrictions, such as bond
covenants or third-party contractual agreements.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Sales of Electricity was consistent in 2018 and 2017. The accuracy of electronic meter reads allows
more accuracy in matching revenues to the cost of power. Even with a rate increase in March 2018,
the District continues to provide lower rates than the national and state averages. Washington’s
renewable energy cost recovery program referred to as “Legacy” reached maximum capacity in
2016. Again in 2018, the new state program for District customers reached maximum capacity.
Other electric revenue increased in 2018 with pole contacts and service fee increases.
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In 2018, total operating costs decreased by 5%. Bonneville Power Administration’s rate structure
adds costs during periods where usage varies from the forecast. The mild winter weather of 2018
followed the forecast closely and shows a small decrease in total costs from the previous year,
while the District experienced a higher percentage based on Electric revenues. The District is a
Distribution system only, purchases more than 90% of power costs from BPA and demonstrates a
willingness and ability to adjust rates in response to the BPA increases.
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OperatingExpenses
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Expenses by category changed with the largest proportional increase in Power Costs and the largest
dollar reduction in distribution expense. The decrease in Distribution expense is a result of the
increased capitalized labor required for customer line extension projects and a 6% decrease in total
Operations wages for 2018.
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Total wages are comparable to 2018, with category fluctuations. Staffing levels, PTO cash outs,
wage increases and changes in positions continue to create fluctuations by department and
category. Limited staff fulfilling multiple positions increases the volatility and probability of
variances between expense accounts.

LaborbyDepartment

$516,000
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Outside
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Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) include interest income, interest expense and miscellaneous
other items, with interest expense constituting the majority. Interest income increased in 2018 with
market increases, and the change in Investment Policy and treasury functions. Interest income
more than doubled in 2018.
Net income following capital contributions increased due to redistribution of wage expenses,
increase in Investment income, and increase in Capital Contribution.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
This report is designed to provide the District’s customers, bondholders, creditors and other
interested parties with a general overview of the District’s finances. If you have questions about
this report or need additional information, contact the District’s Finance Department at Kittitas
County PUD #1, 1400 Vantage Highway, Ellensburg, Washington, 98926.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2019

ASSETS
Current Assets - Unrestricted:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Accounts receivable, net (Note 4)
Materials and supplies inventory
Prepayments and other current assets
Investments (Note 7)

$

Total current assets - unrestricted
Current Assets - Restricted:
Investments (Notes 5, 7 and 10)

889,797
1,467,521
648,565
28,330
1,139,115
4,173,328
1,645,595

Total current assets - restricted
Net Utility Plant (Note 6):
Utility plant in service
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation

1,645,595
46,687,722
3,376,883
(15,927,855)

Total net utility plant
Other Noncurrent Assets:
Investments (Note 7)

34,136,750
2,080,499

Total other noncurrent assets

2,080,499

Total assets

42,036,172

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Losses on reacquired debt (Note 8)
Deferred outflows related to the net pension liability (Note 11)

1,999
204,210
Total deferred outflows of resources

206,209

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Compensated absences
Consumer deposits
Unearned revenue
Long-term debt, due within one year (Note 10)

1,835,032
137,359
185,491
241,581
733,037
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Line of credit, due after one year (Note 9)
Long-term debt, due after one year (Note 10)
Net pension liability (Note 11)
Total other postemployment benefit obligation (Note 11)

3,132,500
3,700,000
6,502,861
603,114
702,796

Total noncurrent liabilities

11,508,771

Total liabilities

14,641,271

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to the net pension liability (Note 11)

353,764
Total deferred inflows of resources

353,764

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted (Note 5)
Unrestricted

23,202,851
1,218,790
2,825,705
Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$ 27,247,346
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2018

ASSETS
Current Assets - Unrestricted:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Accounts receivable, net (Note 4)
Materials and supplies inventory
Prepayments and other current assets
Investments (Note 7)

$ 1,509,559
1,301,077
498,989
381,063
1,994,488
5,685,176

Current Assets - Restricted and Board Designated:
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3, 5 and 9)

2,206,000
Total current assets

7,891,176

Net Utility Plant (Note 6):
Utility plant in service
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation

44,394,235
501,879
(15,193,206)
Total net utility plant

29,702,908

Other Assets:
Regulatory assets
Investments (Note 7)

37,490
1,633,677
Total other assets

1,671,167

Total assets

39,265,251

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Losses on reacquired debt (Note 8)
Deferred outflows related to the net pension liability (Note 10)

25,990
182,376
Total deferred outflows of resources

208,366

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Compensated absences
Consumer deposits
Unearned revenue
Long-term debt, due within one year (Note 9)

1,878,217
161,560
145,690
389,122
909,315
Total current liabilities

3,483,904

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Long-term debt, due after one year (Note 9)
Net pension liability (Note 10)
Total other postemployment benefit obligation (Note 10)

9,697,734
748,788
476,959
Total noncurrent liabilities

10,923,481

Total liabilities

14,407,385

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to the net pension liability (Note 10)

299,926
Total deferred inflows of resources

299,926

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted (Note 5)
Unrestricted

19,121,849
1,147,349
4,497,108
Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$ 24,766,306
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Operating revenues:
Sales of electricity
Other operating revenues

$
Total operating revenues

10,591,806
358,799
10,950,605

Operating expenses:
Cost of power
Distribution expense - operations
Distribution expense - maintenance
Consumer accounts expense
Administrative and general expense
Depreciation expense
Tax expense
Other deductions

4,415,114
652,823
985,172
511,295
1,272,028
1,291,674
579,218
166,640
Total operating expenses

9,873,964

Operating income

1,076,641

Other income and expense:
Investment income
Interest expense (Notes 8 and 10)
Gain on disposal of assets
Other nonoperating income

155,567
(341,702)
1,469
163,745
Total other income and expense, net

(20,921)

Income before capital contributions

1,055,720

Capital contributions

1,425,320
Changes in net position

2,481,040

Net position, beginning of year

24,766,306
Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$

27,247,346
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended December 31, 2018

Operating Revenues:
Sales of electricity
Other operating revenues

$
Total operating revenues

9,891,274
235,129
10,126,403

Operating Expenses:
Cost of power
Distribution expense - operations
Distribution expense - maintenance
Consumer accounts expense
Administrative and general expense
Depreciation expense
Tax expense
Other deductions

4,050,769
443,409
506,317
477,315
958,529
1,195,846
539,165
98,741
Total operating expenses

8,270,091

Operating income

1,856,312

Other Income and Expense:
Investment income
Interest expense (Notes 8 and 9)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Other nonoperating income

173,729
(337,936)
(666)
170,411
Total other income and expense, net

5,538

Income before capital contributions

1,861,850

Capital contributions

864,836
Changes in net position

2,726,686

Net position, beginning of year as restated (Notes 2, 10 and 12)

22,039,620
Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$

24,766,306
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to and on behalf of employees

$ 10,771,984
(5,792,162)
(2,738,017)
Net cash provided by operating activities

2,241,805

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Additions to utility plant, net
Proceeds from sales of general plant
Borrowings on line of credit
Principal payments on long-term debt
Interest payments on long-term debt
Contributions in aid of construction
Cash from nonoperating sources

(5,495,281)
4,551
3,700,000
(3,364,315)
(324,547)
1,329,757
163,745
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

(3,986,090)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Net change in investments
Interest and dividends received

159,413
155,567
Net cash provided by investing activities

314,980

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(1,429,305)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year as restated

2,319,102
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the
Statements of Financial Position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Allocated depreciation
Changes in:
Accounts receivable, net
Materials and supplies inventory
Prepayments and other current assets
Regulatory assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Compensated absences
Consumer deposits
Unearned revenue
Net pension liability and related deferred outflows (inflows)
Net other postemployent benefit obligation

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

889,797

$

889,797
-

$

889,797

$ 1,076,641

1,291,674
144,668
(166,444)
(149,576)
120,333
37,490
(188,770)
(24,201)
39,801
(51,978)
(113,670)
225,837
Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Amortization of losses on reacquired debt
Amortization of premium on bond issuance

$

$ 2,241,805

$

23,991
(6,836)
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2018

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to or on behalf of employees

$ 10,097,359
(4,589,226)
(2,169,316)
Net cash provided by operating activities

3,338,817

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Net additions to utility plant
Proceeds from sales of general plant
Principal payments on long-term debt
Interest payments on long-term debt
Contributions in aid of construction
Cash from nonoperating sources

(4,264,585)
(879,735)
(320,781)
895,055
170,411
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

(4,399,635)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net change in investments
Interest and dividends received

(3,558,545)
173,729
Net cash used by investing activities

(3,384,816)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(4,445,634)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

8,161,193
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the
Statements of Financial Position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted and Board Designated cash and cash equivalents

$ 1,509,559
2,206,000
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Allocated depreciation
Changes in:
Accounts receivable, net
Materials and supplies inventory
Prepayments and other current assets
Regulatory assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Consumer deposits
Compensated absences
Net pension liability and related deferred outflows (inflows)
Net other postemployent benefit obligation

$ 3,715,559

$ 1,856,312

1,195,846
98,577
(20,604)
(51,776)
(123,417)
43,232
388,432
(8,440)
35,121
(99,920)
25,454
Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Activities:
Amortization of losses on reacquired debt
Amortization of premium on bond issuance

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$ 3,715,559

$ 3,338,817

$
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019
1.

Organization

Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, Washington (“the District”) is a municipal corporation of the
State of Washington established in 1936 to function as a public utility for the purpose of engaging in the
generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electric energy. The District serves Kittitas and Yakima
counties, including approximately 4,600 residents and businesses, with 735 miles of line. The District’s
administrative office is located in the City of Ellensburg.
The District is governed by an elected three-member Board of Commissioners (Commissioners), which is
responsible for the legislative and fiscal control of the District. The Commissioners’ responsibilities are to
appoint the General Manager; approve the District’s budgets; adopt regulations; and set policies and guiding
financial and operating principles for the operations included in these financial statements. The District has no
component units.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements of the District conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to a municipal utility. The District follows the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission’s (FERC) Uniform System of Accounts prescribed for Class A and Class B
Electric Utilities. As a result, the District’s application of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America differs in certain respects from such application by non-regulated enterprises. The
differences relate primarily to the time at which various items enter into the determination of operating
income in order to follow the principle of matching costs and revenues.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The District has adopted and applied
all applicable GASB pronouncements, including GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. The objective
of Statement No. 83 is to address accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations
(AROs). An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset.
This Statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a
corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs. This Statement requires that recognition occur when
the liability is both incurred and reasonably estimable. The determination of when the liability is incurred
should be based on the occurrence of external laws, regulations, contracts, or court judgments, together with
the occurrence of an internal event that obligates a government to perform asset retirement activities.
Laws and regulations may require governments to take specific actions to retire certain tangible capital assets
at the end of the useful lives of those capital assets, such as decommissioning nuclear reactors and
dismantling and removing sewage treatment plants. Other obligations to retire tangible capital assets may
arise from contracts or court judgments. Internal obligating events include the occurrence of contamination,
placing into operation a tangible capital asset that is required to be retired, abandoning a tangible capital asset
before it is placed into operation, or acquiring a tangible capital asset that has an existing ARO. Statement No.
83 is effective for the District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 (see Note 13). The
District is currently evaluating the financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued
December 31, 2019
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Continued
In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The objective of Statement No. 84
is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial
reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. This Statement establishes criteria for
identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1)
whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a
fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and
postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. Statement No. 84 is effective for the
District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 (see Note 13). The District is currently
evaluating the financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the
information needs of financial statement users by improving governments’ accounting and financial reporting
for leases. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the
contract. This Statement establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle
that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to
recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a
lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of
information about governments leasing activities. Statement No. 87 is effective for the District beginning in
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 (see Note 13). The District is currently evaluating the financial
statement impact of adopting this statement.
In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct
Borrowings and Direct Placements. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the information
that is disclosed in notes to government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and
direct placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information
related to debt. This Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to financial statements as a
liability that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash)
in one or more payments to settle an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established.
This Statement requires that additional essential information related to debt be disclosed in notes to financial
statements, including unused lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral for the debt; and terms specified in
debt agreements related to significant events of default with finance-related consequences, significant
termination events with finance-related consequences, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. For
notes to financial statements related to debt, this Statement also requires that existing and additional
information be provided for direct borrowings and direct placements of debt separately from other debt.
Statement No. 88 is effective for the District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 (see
Note 13). The District is currently evaluating the financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Continued
In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End of a
Construction Period. The objectives of this Statement are (1) to enhance the relevance and comparability of
information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to simplify
accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. This Statement requires that
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in
which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus.
As a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical
cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. Statement No. 89 is effective for
the District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021 (see Note 13). The District does not
currently capitalize any interest costs, and management did not anticipate capitalizing any in the foreseeable
future. As such, there will be no financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020. The objectives of this Statement are to
enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative
literature by addressing practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of
certain GASB Statements. This Statement addresses a variety of topics and includes specific provisions about
the following:
x
x

x

x
x
x
x
x

The effective date of Statement No. 87, Leases, and Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, Leases, for
interim financial reports
Reporting of intra-entity transfers of assets between a primary government employer and a
component unit defined benefit pension plan or defined benefit other postemployment benefit
(OPEB) plan
The applicability of Statements No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and
Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain
Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68, as amended, and No. 74, Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, as amended, to reporting assets
accumulated for postemployment benefits
The applicability of certain requirements of Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, to
postemployment benefit arrangements
Measurement of liabilities (and assets, if any) related to asset retirement obligations (AROs) in a
government acquisition
Reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that are recoverable from reinsurers or excess
insurers
Reference to nonrecurring fair value measurements of assets or liabilities in authoritative literature
Terminology used to refer to derivative instruments.

The requirements of Statement No. 92 that are related to the effective date of Statement No. 87 and
Implementation Guide 2019-3, reinsurance recoveries, and terminology used to refer to derivative instruments
are effective upon issuance. The requirements related to the other topics covered in Statement No. 92 will be
effective for the District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022 (see Note 13). The District is
currently evaluating the financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
With the exception of amounts invested in the State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool
(LGIP), the District considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. Amounts invested in the LGIP are reported as investments.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts due from providing electricity to the District’s customers
and are stated at the amount that management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management
provides for probable uncollectible amounts through an allowance for doubtful accounts. Additions to the
allowance for doubtful accounts are based on management’s judgment, considering historical write-offs,
reviews of specific past-due accounts, collections and current credit conditions. Generally, the District
considers accounts receivable past due after 30 days. Balances which remain outstanding after management
has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the allowance for doubtful accounts
and a credit to the applicable accounts receivable. Payments received on accounts receivable subsequent to
being written off are recorded as a bad debt recovery. Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts have
not been material to the financial statements.
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Materials and supplies inventory, which consists primarily of items for construction and maintenance of
electric plant, is recorded at the lower of weighted average cost or net realizable value. Useable materials
from plant retirements are returned to inventory at current weighted average cost.
Restricted and Board Designated Assets
Restricted assets consist of assets that are restricted by bond covenants or third-party contractual agreements.
Assets that are allocated by resolution of the Commissioners are considered to be Board designated. Board
designated amounts are a component of unrestricted assets, as their use may be redirected at any time by
approval of the Commissioners.
Net Utility Plant
Utility plant is recorded at cost, which includes contracted work, direct labor and materials, and allocable
overhead. Major additions and betterments to general plant with a cost of $5,000 or more are capitalized.
Costs of routine repairs and maintenance that do not improve or extend the useful lives of the related assets,
and the replacement and renewal of items determined to be less than units of plant, are charged to
maintenance as incurred.
Overhead costs, including indirect labor, payroll burden, transportation charges and stores expense, are
charged to construction and retirements monthly on a prorated basis.
Depreciation of utility plant is calculated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, ranging from 3 to 38 years. Composite rates are used for asset groups of utility plant. At the time of
retirement or sale of depreciable assets, the original cost is removed from utility plant and the cost plus the
cost of removal, less net salvage or insurance recovery, is removed from accumulated depreciation.
When general plant assets are retired, sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business, their
net book value is removed from utility plant and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized.
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Deferred Charges and Deferred Credits
The Commissioners have the authority to establish the level of rates charged for all District services. As a
regulated entity, the District’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with ASC Topic 980,
Regulated Operations, which requires that the effects of the rate-making process be recorded in the financial
statements. Accordingly, certain expenses and credits, normally reflected in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position, are recognized when included in rates and recovered from, or
refunded to, customers. The District records various regulatory assets and credits to reflect rate-making
actions of the Commissioners.
Investments
Investments in associated organizations are recorded at the face value of capital credits allocated and not
retired. Investments in the State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool are carried at amortized
cost. Marketable securities are carried at fair market value.
Fair Value Measurements
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, established a fair value hierarchy for
those assets and liabilities measured at fair value, that distinguishes between assumptions based on market
data (observable inputs) and the organization’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy
consists of: Level 1 – quoted market prices in active markets for identical instruments; Level 2 – inputs other
than Level 1 inputs that are observable; and Level 3 – unobservable inputs developed using estimates and
assumptions determined by the organization. At December 31, 2019, the assets or liabilities of the District
that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized as follows:
Level 1
U.S. Treasuries
Mortgage-backed securities

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

999,632 $
--

-- $
1,986,826

-- $
--

999,632
1,986,826

$

999,632 $

1,986,826 $

-- $

2,986,458

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at
fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances (for
example, when there is evidence of impairment). The District had no assets measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis during 2019.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets
Management of the District periodically reviews the net carrying value of its assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset might not be recoverable.
These reviews consider the net realizable value of each asset to determine whether an impairment in value has
occurred, and whether there is a need for any asset impairment write-down. Impaired assets are reported at the
lower of cost or fair value. At December 31, 2019, no assets were considered to be impaired.
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Deferred Financing Costs
Costs associated with the issuance of bonds are expensed in the year incurred. Original issue and reacquired
bond premiums and discounts related to bonds are amortized over the terms of the respective bonds.
Compensated Absences
The District provides its employees with personal time off (PTO) in lieu of vacation and sick leave. PTO is
recorded as an expense and a liability as the benefits accrue. PTO may be deferred and taken in subsequent
years, however PTO time accrued may not exceed 900 hours for union employees and 488 hours for nonunion employees. Both union and non-union employees must schedule and use at least five days of PTO in
each calendar year during their first five years of employment. After five years of employment, union and
non-union employees must schedule and use at least 10 and 15 days, respectively, of PTO annually thereafter.
The District’s PTO policy includes an annual buy-out provision. All accumulated PTO is payable upon
resignation, termination, retirement or death.
Revenue and Cost Recognition
The District records revenue billed to its customers when the meters are read each month. Substantially all of
the District’s customers’ meters were read as of December 31, 2019. Accordingly, management believes that
any unbilled revenue would not be material to the financial statements, and therefore has not provided an
accrual for unbilled accounts receivable.
Expenses are recorded when the liabilities for goods or services received are incurred.
Taxes
As a political subdivision of the State of Washington, the District is exempt from Federal income taxes. The
State of Washington assesses Excise and Privilege taxes on the District. Payments in lieu of taxes are made to
local governments.
Clearing Accounts
Overhead costs, including indirect labor, payroll burden, insurance, depreciation, transportation charges and
stores expense, are charged to clearing accounts each month. Amounts charged to the clearing accounts are
allocated to construction in progress and expense accounts based on equipment usage, labor charges or
material issuances, depending on the nature of the charge, in accordance with rates established by the
Commissioners.
Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the District to concentration of credit risk consist principally
of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
The District maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts at high quality financial institutions. At times, deposit
account balances may exceed federally insured limits. The District has not experienced any losses from such
accounts and the District’s management believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents.
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Credit Risk, Continued
Credit is extended to customers, generally without collateral requirements, although deposits are required
from certain customers and formal shut-off policies and procedures are in place. Concentration of credit risk
with respect to consumer receivables is limited due to the District’s large number of customers. However,
approximately 17% of the District’s electric sales were made to six commercial customers during 2019. At
December 31, 2019, these commercial customers owed the District $218,396 for electric service, of which
$38,763 remains unpaid as of May 8, 2020.
Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management of the District to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Accordingly, actual results could
differ from those estimates and affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. The District has used
significant estimates in the determination of the allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable, depreciable
lives of utility plant, payroll-related liabilities and regulatory assets and liabilities, if any.
Reclassification
In previous years, the District reported amounts invested in the State of Washington Local Government
Investment Pool as part of cash and cash equivalents. Beginning in 2019, the District has reported these
amounts as part of investments (see Note 7). This reclassification has no effect on Net Position or Changes in
Net Position, as previously reported. Beginning cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows for
the year ended December 31, 2019 have been restated to reflect this reclassification.
Subsequent Events
The District has evaluated subsequent events through the date as of which these financial statements were
available to be issued. Except as described in Notes 9, 10 and 13, no material subsequent events have
occurred since December 31, 2019 that required recognition or disclosure in these financial statements.
3.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and deposits held in checking accounts at local banks.
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may not be returned
to it. The District’s deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000
at each bank at December 31, 2019.
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents on the District’s books at December 31, 2019 was
$889,797. Bank balances totaled $873,146 at that date. The differences between the carrying amount of cash
and cash equivalents on the District’s books and the combined balances per the banks consisted of
outstanding checks, warrants and deposits not processed by the banks as of December 31, 2019.
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At times, deposits may exceed federally insured limits. The District has not experienced any losses on bank
balances and management believes cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to significant credit risk.
A summary of the uninsured bank balances at December 31, 2019 is as follows:

4.

Bank balances at December 31, 2019
Portion insured by the FDIC

$

873,146
(257,204)

Uninsured balances

$

615,942

$

1,267,262
243,105

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following at December 31, 2019:
Electric service
Other

1,510,367
(42,846)

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts
$
5.

1,467,521

Restricted Assets

At December 31, 2019, the District has certain amounts, as detailed below, that are classified as restricted
assets. The bond sinking funds represent a restriction resulting from bond covenants (see Note 10) and
therefore represent restricted net position. The other amounts have been accrued as liabilities in the Statement
of Net Position.
Bond sinking funds
Consumer deposits
Contractor retainage
Customer contributions in aid to construction
Customer energy prepayments

$

1,218,790
185,225
99,860
81,759
59,961

$

1,645,595

Additionally, at December 31, 2019, the Board has designated $474,072 for vehicle replacements. The vehicle
replacement funds are a component of unrestricted net position, as their use may be redirected at any time by
approval of the District’s Commissioners. This amount is also excluded from restricted cash and investments.
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Net utility plant activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows:
Balance
December 31,
2018
Transmission plant
Distribution plant
General plant
Accumulated depreciation

$

97,409
41,020,654
3,048,778
(15,193,206)
28,973,635

Land
Intangibles
Construction in progress

Additions
$

-545,693
173,911
(1,436,342)

Transfers
$

(716,738)

222,145
5,249
501,879

--4,893,234

$ 29,702,908

$ 4,176,496

Disposals

-1,978,234
39,996
--

$

2,018,230
--(2,018,230)
$

Balance
December 31,
2019

--

$

-(391,353)
(52,994)
701,693

$

97,409
43,153,228
3,209,691
(15,927,855)

257,346

30,532,473

----

222,145
5,249
3,376,883

257,346

$ 34,136,750

Total depreciation for 2019 was $1,436,342. Depreciation on transportation and work equipment is allocated
to clearing accounts, and subsequently charged to construction work orders or maintenance expense.
Depreciation on transportation and work equipment that was allocated to clearing accounts, and subsequently
charged to construction work orders or maintenance expense totaled $144,668 in 2019.
7.

Investments

Investments consist of the following at December 31, 2019:
Investments in associated organizations
State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool
Marketable securities

$

79,824
1,798,927
2,986,458

$

4,865,209

Investments in associated organizations primarily consist of patronage capital credits from Federated Rural
Electric Insurance Exchange Cooperative (Federated) in the amount of $79,723 at December 31, 2019.
The State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is an unrated external investment pool
that invests in a manner consistent with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s rule 2a-7 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940. The District reports these investments at amortized cost. Participants may
contribute and withdraw funds on a daily basis, but must inform the LGIP of any contribution or withdrawal
over $1 million no later than 9 a.m. on the same day the transaction is made. Contributions or withdrawals for
$1 million or less can be requested at any time prior to 10 a.m. on the day of the transaction. The LGIP does
not impose liquidity fees or redemption gates on participant withdrawals. Balances invested in the LGIP are
covered by collateral held in a multiple financial institution pool administered by the Washington Public
Deposit Protection Commission (PDPC).
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Marketable securities consist of the following at December 31, 2019:
Federal Farm Credit Banks, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1.840%
maturing in September 2022, rated Aaa by Moody
Resolution Funding Corporation strips, bearing interest at a fixed rate
of 2.728%, maturing in July 2020, not rated
United States Treasury note, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1.375%,
maturing in May 2021, rated Aaa by Moody

$

1,001,043
985,783
999,632

$

2,986,458

Marketable securities have the following maturities at December 31, 2019:
Maturities (in Years)
Less than
1

8.

1

2

Total
2019

3

United States Treasury note
Mortgage-backed securities

$

-985,783

$

999,632
--

$

-1,001,043

$

---

$

999,632
1,986,826

Total

$

985,783

$

999,632

$ 1,001,043

$

--

$ 2,986,458

Losses on Reacquired Debt

During 2005, the District issued Series 2005 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds to advance refund
Series 1996 and Series 1999 Electric Revenue Bonds. In connection with these transactions, the District
recorded losses on reacquired debt of $243,682. This amount, which is included in deferred outflows of
resources in the Statement of Net Position, is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life
of the original debt. During 2019, amortization of the losses on reacquired debt totaled $23,991, resulting in a
remaining balance of $1,999. The amortization of the losses has been included in other deductions in the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
9.

Line of Credit

Effective April 30, 2019, the District established a $6 million non-revolving line of credit with a local bank
for the purpose of providing financing for the District’s capital program. Through December 31, 2019, the
District borrowed $3.7 million on the line and used a portion of the amount borrowed to retire the Series 2009
Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds, which had a principal balance of $2,455,000 at the time they were
retired in December 2019 (see Note 10). The line bears interest at the rate of 2.60% and is set to expire in
December 2023.
During February 2020, the terms of the line of credit were amended to convert the line to a revolving line of
credit, thus allowing prepaid amounts on the line to be re-borrowed. Also, on February 25, 2020, the balance
on the line, which was $3,719,738, including accrued interest, was paid in full out of the proceeds of the
newly-issued Series 2020 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds (see Note 10).
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During 2015, the District issued a $6,350,419 Series 2015 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond. The bond
was issued at par and bears interest at 2.31%. The proceeds from the Series 2015 Electric Revenue and
Refunding Bond were primarily used to retire the outstanding principal balance of previously-issued Series
2005 Electric Revenue Bonds.
During 2013, the District issued $4,220,000 of Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds. The
bonds were issued at a premium of $140,132, and bear interest at rates which vary from 2.00% to 4.00%. A
portion of the proceeds from the Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds was used to retire the
outstanding principal balance of previously-issued Series 2002 Electric Revenue Bonds. The premium
received on the bonds is being amortized over the life of the new bonds (240 months). During 2019,
amortization of the premium on the bonds totaled $6,836. This amount has been recorded as a reduction of
interest expense in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
At December 31, 2019, the District held $1,218,790 of investments restricted for bond repayment as required
by the bond covenants (see Note 5). The District is in compliance with all significant limitations and
restrictions associated with the bonds, including the debt service coverage of 1.25. Debt service coverage was
2.10 at December 31, 2019.
A summary of changes in long-term obligations of the District for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as
follows:
Long-Term
Obligations
December 31,
2018
Series 2009 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bonds
$ 2,625,000
Series 2013 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bonds
2,775,000
Premium on issuance of 2013
Electric Revenue and
Refunding Bonds
101,795
Series 2015 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bond
5,105,254
$ 10,607,049

Long-Term
Obligations
Incurred
$

$

Long-Term
Long-Term
Obligations
Obligations
December 31,
Paid/Amortized
2019
$

--

Due
Within
One
Year

--

$ (2,625,000)

$

--

(310,000)

2,465,000

310,000

--

(6,836)

94,959

--

--

(429,315)

4,675,939

423,037

--

$ (3,371,151)

$ 7,235,898

$

--

733,037

Page 46

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued
December 31, 2019
10.

Long-Term Debt, Continued

Future debt service requirements as of December 31, 2019 are summarized as follows:
Principal

Interest

Total

Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2033

$

310,000
315,000
325,000
115,000
115,000
655,000
630,000

$

76,906
70,656
64,053
58,300
53,700
193,900
51,400

$

386,906
385,656
389,053
173,300
168,700
848,900
681,400

2,465,000

568,915

3,033,915

423,037
431,417
439,162
450,607
461,436
2,470,280

108,014
98,242
88,276
78,131
67,723
173,874

531,051
529,659
527,438
528,738
529,159
2,644,154

4,675,939

614,260

5,290,199

733,037
746,417
764,162
565,607
576,436
3,125,280
630,000

184,920
168,898
152,329
136,431
121,423
367,774
51,400

917,957
915,315
916,491
702,038
697,859
3,493,054
681,400

$ 7,140,939

$ 1,183,175

$ 8,324,114

Series 2015 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 - 2029
Combined Totals:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2033

On February 25, 2020, the District issued a $6,654,144 Series 2020 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond to
finance capital improvements to the District’s utility plant. The bond, which bears interest at the rate of
2.02%, requires semi-annual payments of principal and interest of varying amounts and matures in June 2034.
During the year ending December 31, 2020, principal and interest of $483,744 and $98,165, respectively, will
be due. The proceeds of the bond were used to pay off the outstanding balance of the line of credit described
in Note 9, establish a project fund and reserve account and pay costs of issuance of the bond.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3
Overview
The following table represents the aggregate pension amounts for all plans subject to the requirements of the
GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions for the year 2019:
Aggregate Pension Amounts – All Plans
Pension liabilities
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred inflows of resources
Pension expense

$ 603,114
204,210
353,764
96,749

All of the District’s full-time and qualifying part-time employees participate in one of the statewide retirement
systems administered by the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems, under cost-sharing,
multiple-employer public employee defined benefit retirement plans. Public Employees’ Retirement System
(PERS) retirement benefit provisions are established in Chapters 41.34 RCW and 41.40 RCW and may be
amended only by the State Legislature.
The Department of Retirement Systems (DRS), a department within the primary government of the State of
Washington, issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for each plan. The DRS CAFR may be obtained by
writing to: Department of Retirement Systems, Communications Unit, P.O. Box 48380, Olympia, WA 985048380, or it may be downloaded from the DRS website at www.drs.wa.gov.
Plan Description
The Legislature established PERS in 1947. Membership in the system includes elected officials; state
employees; employees of the Supreme, Appeals and Superior courts; employees of the legislature; employees
of district and municipal courts; and employees of local governments. Membership also includes higher
education employees not participating in higher education retirement programs.
PERS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer retirement system comprised of three separate plans for
membership purposes: Plans 1 and 2 are defined benefit plans and Plan 3 is a defined benefit plan with a
defined contribution component.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Plan Description, Continued
PERS Plan 1 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are determined as 2% of
the member’s average final compensation (AFC) times the member’s years of service. The AFC is the
average of the member’s 24 highest consecutive service months. Members are eligible for retirement from
active status at any age with at least 30 years of service, at age 55 with at least 25 years of service, or at age
60 with at least five years of service. Members retiring from active status prior to the age of 65 may receive
actuarially reduced benefits. Retirement benefits are actuarially reduced to reflect the choice of a survivor
benefit. Other benefits include duty and non-duty disability payments, an optional cost-of-living adjustment
(COLA), and a one-time duty-related death benefit, if found eligible by the Department of Labor and
Industries. PERS 1 members were vested after the completion of five years of eligible service. The plan was
closed to new entrants on September 30, 1977.
PERS Plan 2/3 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are determined as 2% of
the member’s AFC times the member’s years of service for Plan 2 and 1% of AFC for Plan 3. The AFC is the
average of the member’s 60 highest-paid consecutive service months. There is no cap on years of service
credit. Members are eligible for retirement with a full benefit at 65 with at least five years of service credit.
Retirement before age 65 is considered an early retirement. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have at least 20
years of service credit and are 55 years of age or older, are eligible for early retirement with a benefit that is
reduced by a factor that varies according to age for each year before age 65. PERS Plan 2/3 members who
have 30 or more years of service credit and are at least 55 years old can retire under one of two provisions:
x
x

With a benefit that is reduced by 3% for each year before age 65; or
With a benefit that has a smaller (or no) reduction (depending on age) that imposes stricter return-towork rules.

PERS Plan 2/3 members hired on or after May 1, 2013 have the option to retire early by accepting a reduction
of 5% for each year of retirement before age 65. This option is available only to those who are age 55 or older
and have at least 30 years of service credit. PERS Plan 2/3 retirement benefits are also actuarially reduced to
reflect the choice of a survivor benefit. Other PERS Plan 2/3 benefits include duty and non-duty disability
payments, a cost-of-living allowance (based on the CPI), capped at 3% annually and a one-time, duty-related
death benefit, if found eligible by the Department of Labor and Industries. PERS 2 members are vested after
completing 5 years of eligible service. Plan 3 members are vested in the defined benefit portion of their plan
after 10 years of service; or after five years of service if 12 months of that service are earned after age 44.
PERS Plan 3 defined contribution benefits are totally dependent on employee contributions and investment
earnings on those contributions. PERS Plan 3 members choose their contribution rate upon joining
membership and have a chance to change rates upon changing employers. As established by statute, Plan 3
required defined contribution rates are set at a minimum of 5% and escalate to 15% with a choice of six
options. Employers do not contribute to the defined contribution benefits. PERS Plan 3 members are
immediately vested in the defined contribution portion of their plan.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Funding Policy
The PERS Plan 1 member contribution rate is established by State statute at 6%. The employer contribution
rate is developed by the Office of the State Actuary and includes an administrative expense component that is
currently set at 0.18%. Each biennium, the state Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 1 employer
contribution rates.
The PERS Plan 2/3 employer and employee contribution rates are developed by the Office of the State
Actuary to fully fund Plan 2 and the defined benefit portion of Plan 3. The Plan 2/3 employer rates include a
component to address the PERS Plan 1 Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability and an administrative expense
that is currently set at 0.18%. Each biennium, the state Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 2 employer and
employee contribution rates and Plan 3 contribution rates.
The required contribution rates expressed as a percentage of current-year covered payroll, through June 30,
2019, were as follows:

Employer*
Employee
*
**
***
****
*****

PERS Plan 1

PERS Plan 2

PERS Plan 3

12.83%**
6.00%****

12.83%**
7.41%****

12.83%***
*****

The employer rates include the employer administrative expense fee currently set at 0.18%.
The employer rate for state elected officials is 19.16% for Plan 1 and 12.83% for Plan 2 and Plan 3.
Plan 3 defined benefit portion only.
The employee rate for state elected officials is 7.50% for Plan 1 and 7.41% for Plan 2.
Variable from 5.0% minimum to 15.0% maximum based on rate selected by the PERS 3 member.

Effective July 1, 2019, the required contribution rates increased and are expressed as a percentage of currentyear covered payroll, through December 31, 2019, as follows:

Employer*
Employee
*
**
***
****
*****

PERS Plan 1

PERS Plan 2

PERS Plan 3

12.86%**
6.00%****

12.86%**
7.90%****

12.86%***
*****

The employer rates include the employer administrative expense fee currently set at 0.18%.
The employer rate for state elected officials is 19.20% for Plan 1 and 12.86% for Plan 2 and Plan 3.
Plan 3 defined benefit portion only.
The employee rate for state elected officials is 7.50% for Plan 1 and 7.90% for Plan 2.
Variable from 5.0% minimum to 15.0% maximum based on rate selected by the PERS 3 member.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Funding Policy, Continued
Both the District and the employees made the required contributions. The District’s actual contributions, less
administrative expense fees, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

PERS 1
$

82,367
78,850
70,982

PERS 2/3
$

128,051
116,813
99,552

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
The total pension liability (TPL) for each of the PERS plans was determined using the most recent actuarial
valuations completed in 2019 with a valuation date of June 30, 2018. The actuarial assumptions used in the
valuation were based on the results of the Office of the State Actuary’s (OSA) 2007-2012 Experience Study
and the 2017 Economic Experience Study.
Additional assumptions for subsequent events and law changes are current as of the 2018 actuarial valuation
report. The TPL was calculated as of the valuation date and rolled forward to the measurement date of
June 30, 2019. Plan liabilities were rolled forward from June 30, 2018 to June 30, 2019, reflecting each plan’s
normal cost (using the entry-age cost method), assumed interest and actual benefit payments.
x
x
x

Inflation: 2.75% total economic inflation; 3.50% salary inflation
Salary increases: In addition to the base 3.50% salary inflation assumption, salaries are also expected
to grow by promotions and longevity
Investment rate of return: 7.40%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 report’s Combined Healthy Table and Combined Disabled Table,
published by the Society of Actuaries. OSA applied offsets to the base table and recognized future
improvements in mortality by projecting the mortality rates using 100% Scale BB. Mortality rates are applied
on a generational basis; meaning, each member is assumed to receive additional mortality improvements in
each future year throughout his or her lifetime.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for all PERS plans was 7.40%. To determine that
rate, an asset sufficiency test was completed to test whether each pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
sufficient to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Consistent with current law,
the asset sufficiency test included an assumed 7.50% long-term discount rate to determine funding liabilities
for calculating future contribution rate requirements. Consistent with the long-term expected rate of return, a
7.40% future investment rate of return on invested assets was assumed for the test. Contributions from plan
members and employers are assumed to continue being made at contractually required rates (including PERS
2/3, whose rates include a component for the PERS 1, plan liability). Based on these assumptions, the pension
plans’ fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return of 7.40% was used to determine the
total liability.
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
OSA selected a 7.40% long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments using a building-block
method. In selecting this assumption, OSA reviewed the historical experience data, considered the historical
conditions that produced past annual investment returns, and considered Capital Market Assumptions
(CMAs) and simulated expected investment returns provided by the Washington State Investment Board
(WSIB). The CMAs contain three pieces of information for each class of assets WSIB currently invests in,
including expected annual return; standard deviation of the annual return; and correlations between the annual
returns of each asset class with every other asset class. The WSIB uses the capital market assumptions and
their target asset allocation to simulate future investment returns at various future times.
Estimated Rates of Return by Asset Class
Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target
asset allocation as of June 30, 2019, are summarized in the table below. The inflation component used to
create the table is 2.20% and represents WSIB’s most recent long-term estimate of broad economic inflation.
Asset Class
Fixed income
Tangible assets
Real estate
Global equity
Private equity
Total

Target
Allocation
20.00%
7.00%
18.00%
32.00%
23.00%

Long-Term Expected Real
Rate of Return
2.20%
5.10%
5.80%
6.30%
9.30%

100.00%
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Net Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At December 31, 2019, the District reported a total net pension liability of $603,114 for its proportionate
share of the net pension liabilities, as follows:
PERS 1
PERS 2/3

$

454,713
148,401

Total

$

603,114

The District’s proportionate shares of the collective net pension liability for the measurement dates of
June 30, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

PERS 1
PERS 2/3

Proportionate
Share
June 30, 2019

Proportionate
Share
June 30, 2018

Change in
Proportionate
Share

0.0118250%
0.0152780%

0.0112660%
0.0143870%

0.0005590%
0.0008910%

Employer contribution transmittals received and processed by DRS for the PERS fiscal year ended June 30
are used as the basis for determining each employer’s proportionate share of the collective pension amounts
reported by DRS in the Schedules of Employer and Nonemployer Allocations.
The collective net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the actuarial valuation date on
which the total pension liability is based was as of June 30, 2018, with update procedures used to roll forward
the total pension liability to the measurement date.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District recognized pension expense (revenue) as follows:
PERS 1
PERS 2/3

$

48,026
48,723

Total

$

96,749

Pension expense allocated to clearing accounts totaled $16,921 in 2019.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Net Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions, Continued
At December 31, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources

PERS 1
Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date
Net difference between projected and actual
investment earnings on pension plan investments

$

36,921

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$

--

--

30,379

61,431
59,541
42,517
3,800

-13,204
31,905
62,264

--

216,012

PERS 2/3
Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date
Net change in proportionate share
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Net difference between projected and actual
investment earnings on pension plan investments
Total

$

204,210

$

353,764

The amounts reported at December 31, 2019 as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting
from employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, totaling $98,352, will be recognized
as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending December 31, 2020.
At December 31, 2019, other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

PERS 1

PERS 2/3

Total

$

(6,706)
(15,885)
(5,669)
(2,119)
---

$

(58,404)
(103,263)
(41,565)
(18,712)
(2,460)
6,877

$

(65,110)
(119,148)
(47,234)
(20,831)
(2,460)
6,877

$

(30,379)

$

(217,527)

$

(247,906)

The average of the expected remaining service lives (in years) of all employees that are provided with
pensions through the Plans (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2018, the beginning of the
measurement period ended June 30, 2019, is zero and 7.1 years for PERS 1 and PERS 2/3, respectively.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate
The following table presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability at December 31,
2019 calculated using the discount rate of 7.40%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one
percentage point higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(6.40%)
District’s proportionate share of:
PERS 1 net pension liability
PERS 2/3 net pension liability
Total

Current Rate
(7.40%)

1% Increase
(8.40%)

$

569,446
1,138,179

$

454,713
148,401

$

355,168
(663,777)

$

1,707,625

$

603,114

$

(308,609)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Detailed information about the State’s pension plans’ fiduciary net position is available in the separately
issued DRS financial report.
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Other Postemployment Benefits
GASB Statement No. 75 (GASB No. 75), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions, established standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of
resources, deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures by state and local governments for
postemployment benefits other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB). For defined benefit
OPEB, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit
payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value
to periods of employee service. The District has one OPEB plan that is accounted for in accordance with
GASB No. 75, as described below.
Plan Description
In addition to the pension benefits described above, the District participates in a defined benefit plan
administered by the Health Care Authority (HCA), which provides medical, prescription drug, dental, vision,
disability and long-term care coverage. Per RCW 41.05.065, the Public Employees Benefits Board (PEBB),
created within the HCA, is authorized to design benefits and determine the terms and conditions of employee
and retired employee participation and coverage. PEBB establishes eligibility criteria for both active
employees and retirees and offers retirees access to all benefits administered by HCA. However, PEBB
employers primarily provide monetary assistance, or subsidies, only for medical, prescription drug and vision
insurance.
The relationship between the PEBB plan and its member employers and their employees and retirees is not
formalized in a contract or plan document. Rather, the benefits are provided in accordance with a substantive
plan. A substantive plan is one in which the plan terms are understood by the employers and plan members.
This understanding is based on communications between the HCA, employers and plan members, and the
historical pattern of practice regarding the sharing of benefit costs.
GASB No. 75 establishes the standards for measurement, recognition and reporting of non-pension
postemployment benefits, including medical, dental and vision insurance benefits offered to retirees. The
ability for retirees to obtain coverage at rates similar to active employees constitutes a significant economic
benefit to retirees. GASB No. 75 requires that the District recognize the implicit cost of its retiree
postemployment benefit plan during the period of the employee’s active employment while the benefits are
being earned.
The Office of the State Actuary, a department within the primary government of the State of Washington,
issues a publicly available Other Post-Employment Benefits Actuarial Valuation Report. The Other PostEmployment Benefits Actuarial Valuation Report may be obtained by writing to: Office of the State Actuary,
P.O. Box 40914, Olympia, Washington 98504-0914, or it may be downloaded from the Office of the State
Actuary website at http://leg.wa.gov/OSA.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
Plan Description, Continued
Subsidies
The HCA administers PEBB plan benefits. For medical insurance coverage, the HCA has two claims pools:
one covering employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees, and the other covering retirees enrolled in
Medicare Parts A and B. Each participating employer pays a portion of the premiums for active employees.
For retirees, participating employers provide two different subsidies: an explicit subsidy and an implicit
subsidy.
The explicit subsidy permitted under RCW 41.05.085 is a fixed dollar amount for a specific group of retirees.
The explicit subsidy lowers the monthly premium paid by retired members enrolled in Medicare Parts A and
B. PEBB determines the amount of the explicit subsidy annually. The explicit subsidy was $168 and $150 per
member per month for 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The implicit subsidy established under RCW 41.05.022 is more complex because it is not a direct payment
from the employer on behalf of the retiree. Because retirees covered by the implicit subsidy pay premiums
based on claims experience for employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees who are typically younger and
healthier, their premiums are lower than they would be if they were insured separately. The subsidy is the
difference between the age-based claims costs and the premium paid by the retirees.
Administrative costs, as well as explicit and implicit subsidies, are funded by required contributions from
participating employers. The subsidies provide monetary assistance for medical benefits. Contributions are set
each biennium as part of the State’s budget process. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the
criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. The District covers OPEB costs when they come due, on a
pay-as-you-go basis.
Because the District has fewer than 100 employees (active and inactive) that are provided with OPEB through
the plan, the District qualifies to use the alternative measurement method for calculating the OPEB liability.
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms
As of December 31, 2019, the following employees are covered by the benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments
Active employees

2
0
18
20

The active employees have an average age of 48.4 as of December 31, 2019, and an average of 5.6 years of
service.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense (Expense Offset), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
As of December 31, 2019, the District reported a total OPEB liability of $702,796 related to this plan. The
total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and was determined by using the alternative
measurement method.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the District recognized OPEB expense of $234,265 related to this
plan. Since the District records costs as they come due, there are no deferred outflows of resources for
contributions to the OPEB plan. In accordance with the alternative measurement method, no deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from any other sources are reported.
Actuarial Assumptions
The total OPEB liability as of December 31, 2019 was determined using the following assumptions and other
inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Discount rate*:
Beginning of measurement year
End of measurement year

3.87%
3.50%

Projected salary changes

3.50% + service-based increases

Healthcare cost trend rate**:

Initial rate is approximately 7%,
trends down to about 5% in 2020

Mortality rates:
Base mortality table
Age setback
Mortality improvements
Projection period
Inflation rate

Healthy RP-2000
1 year
100% Scale BB
Generational
2.75%

Post-retirement participation percentage

65%

Percentage with spouse coverage

45%

*
**

Source: Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index.
Trend rate assumptions vary slightly by medical plan. For additional detail on the healthcare
trend rates, see Office of the State Actuary’s 2018 PEBB OPEB Actuarial Valuation Report.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
The following table shows the changes in the total OPEB liability for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2019:
Total OPEB obligation, beginning of year

$ 476,959

Service cost
Interest
Changes in experience data and assumptions
Benefit payments

28,586
19,403
186,276
(8,428)

Increase in total OPEB liability

225,837

Total OPEB obligation, end of year

$ 702,796

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate and the Healthcare Cost Trend
Rate
The following presents the total OPEB liability reported by the District calculated using the discount rate of
3.50%, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower or higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(2.50%)
Employer’s proportionate share of
the total OPEB liability (asset)

$

Current Rate
(3.50%)

852,375 $

702,796

1% Increase
(4.50%)
$

585,590

The following presents the total OPEB liability reported by the District calculated using the current healthcare
cost trend rate, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost
trend rate that is one percentage point lower or higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
Employer’s proportionate share of
the total OPEB liability (asset)

$

Current Rate

567,380 $

702,796

1% Increase
$

883,232
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Deferred Compensation Plans
The District offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Code Section 457. This plan permits eligible employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
Deferred compensation is available to employees following separation of employment, retirement, death, or
unforeseeable emergency without penalty. The plan assets are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Plan
participants and beneficiaries and as such are not included in the District’s financial statements.
The District also sponsors a 401(k) Plan that is funded by contributions from the District and participating
employees. The benefits available upon retirement depend on the amounts contributed by the employees and
the performance of the investments chosen by the plan participants. The assets of the plan are the sole
property of the Plan participants and are not subject to the claims of the District’s general creditors. Plan
participants may obtain loans from their plan account which must be paid back during the period of their
employment. Other plan benefits are not available to plan participants until termination, retirement, or death.
Withdrawals may only be made following attainment of the retirement age of 59-½, disability, death, or
severance from employment. Distributions made before the age of 59-½ are subject to penalties.
The 401(k) Plan was “frozen” during 2015, pending a ruling by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regarding
certain plan provisions. Subsequently, the District’s contributions, and earnings thereon, were placed in a trust
account and employee deferrals were suspended until the IRS issued its ruling. During 2017, the IRS ruled
that the Plan was in compliance with applicable provisions and the Plan was “unfrozen.” Amounts that had
been placed in the trust account were released and were contributed to the Plan.
Contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were
as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Employer
$

106,971
98,065
291,692

Employee
$

87,857
80,071
10,855
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Litigation
The District is occasionally named as a defendant in lawsuits arising principally in the normal course of
operations. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a material adverse
effect on the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, no provision for loss has been recorded in
the financial statements.
During 2012, the District and Commissioners, along with the former General Manager, were named as codefendants in a lawsuit filed in Yakima County Superior Court, State of Washington (“the Court”), by a
former employee alleging age discrimination and wrongful termination and claiming damages of $2,000,000.
Management of the District believed the action was without merit and subsequently filed a motion for
dismissal of the charges with the Court; on May 15, 2015, an order of dismissal was granted. The order of
dismissal was appealed. On September 13, 2016, the Washington Court of Appeals, Division III, upheld the
order of summary judgement entered by the trial court. On October 19, 2017, the Washington Supreme Court
reversed the summary judgment dismissal. In February 2019, this matter was resolved in mediation to the
mutual satisfaction of the parties.
Risk Management
The District maintains insurance coverage against normal hazards through Federated. Insurance coverage
purchased through Federated includes:
All-risk Blanket:
Physical damage to property
Public liability
Crime coverage
Commercial Umbrella:
Occurrence limit
Directors, Officer, Managers:
Limit of liability

$ 9,023,098
2,000,000
4,000,000
20,000,000
7,000,000

Risks and Uncertainties
The District is subject to certain business risks that could have a material impact on future operations and
financial performance. These risks include prices on the wholesale market for short-term power; interest rates;
water conditions; weather and natural disaster-related disruptions; fish and other Endangered Species Act
issues; Environmental Protection Agency regulations; Federal government regulations or orders concerning
operations, maintenance and licensing of facilities; other governmental regulations; and the deregulation of
the electric utility industry.
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Power Purchase Contracts
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) – During 2008, the District executed a new Power Sales Agreement
with Bonneville Power Administration (BPA). Under the wholesale power purchase contract, the District is
committed to purchase its BPA Tier 1 electric power and energy requirements from BPA through September
2028. BPA Tier 1 charges for the Load Following Product will be passed through to the District using BPA
billing determinants and including any credits or discounts such as low-density discounts and irrigation rate
mitigation program credits.
Grant County PUD – The District has an agreement with Grant County PUD to receive .14% of the output
from each of the Priest Rapids and Wanapum projects. The District has assigned the Priest Rapids and
Wanapum shares to BPA for the period from October 1, 2011 through September 30, 2019. BPA will manage
actual scheduled output from the District’s shares and provide credits and charges for generation amounts that
differ from the planned amounts. Under the terms of the contract with Grant County PUD, the District’s
payments are subject to annual "true up" adjustments at the end of each operating year. The 2019 "true up"
adjustment resulted in a reduction of the cost of power related to the agreement with Grant County PUD in
the amount of $15,113. This amount has been accrued in accounts receivable in the December 31, 2019
Statement of Net Position and recorded as a reduction of cost of power in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Clallam County PUD – Effective October 1, 2011, the District entered into a contract with Clallam County
PUD to sell its .25% customer purchase allocation through 2028. Clallam County PUD is responsible for the
annual costs associated with the allocation.
Other Contracts and Agreements
The District is a party to various other contracts and agreements in connection with its operations, including
the following:
x
x
x
x
x
13.

Puget Sound Energy (PSE) – interconnection services;
PSE and the City – mutual assistance agreements;
Grant County PUD No. 2 – power distribution;
U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation – power transmission service;
I-Net – usage and annual operational costs.
Subsequent Event

In February 2020, the Governor of the State of Washington declared a state of emergency in response to the
spread of a deadly new virus. In the weeks following the declaration, precautionary measures to slow the
spread of the virus have been ordered. These measures include closing schools, colleges and universities,
cancelling public events, prohibiting public and private gatherings, and requiring people to stay home unless
they are leaving for an essential function. The length of time these measures will be in place, and the full
extent of the financial impact on the District is unknown at this time.
On May 8, 2020, the GASB issued GASB Statement 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain
Authoritative Guidance, which is effective immediately. This statement postpones by one year the effective
dates of provisions in most GASB Statements and Implementation Guides due to be implemented by state and
local governments for fiscal years 2019 and later (see Note 2).
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Organization

Public Utility District No. 1 of Kittitas County, Washington (“the District”) is a municipal corporation of the
State of Washington established in 1936 to function as a public utility for the purpose of engaging in the
generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electric energy. The District serves Kittitas and Yakima
counties, including approximately 4,500 residents and businesses, with 735 miles of line. The District’s
administrative office is located in the City of Ellensburg.
The District is governed by an elected three-member Board of Commissioners (Commissioners), which is
responsible for the legislative and fiscal control of the District. The Commissioners’ responsibilities are to
appoint the General Manager; approve the District’s budgets; adopt regulations; and set policies and guiding
financial and operating principles for the operations included in these financial statements. The District has no
component units.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements of the District conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to a municipal utility. The District follows the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission’s (FERC) Uniform System of Accounts prescribed for Class A and Class B
Electric Utilities. As a result, the District’s application of accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America differs in certain respects from such application by non-regulated enterprises. The
differences relate primarily to the time at which various items enter into the determination of operating
income in order to follow the principle of matching costs and revenues.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The District has adopted and applied
all applicable GASB pronouncements, including GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefit Plans Other Than Pensions. The primary objective of Statement No. 75 is to improve accounting and
financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions (other
postemployment benefits or OPEB). This Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as
amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for
OPEB. For defined benefit OPEB, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that are required to
be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and
attribute that present value to periods of employee service. Statement No. 75 became effective for the District
beginning in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. Implementation required the restatement of amounts
previously not reported on the District’s Statement of Net Position for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2017 (see Notes 10 and 12).
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Continued
In March 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of this Statement is to
address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB
Statements. This Statement addresses a variety of topics including issues related to blending component units,
goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other
postemployment benefits [OPEB]).
Specifically, Statement No. 85 addresses the following topics:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Blending a component unit in circumstances in which the primary government is a business-type
activity that reports in a single column for financial statement presentation;
Reporting amounts previously reported as goodwill and “negative” goodwill;
Classifying real estate held by insurance entities;
Measuring certain money market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts
at amortized cost;
Timing of the measurement of pension or OPEB liabilities and expenditures recognized in financial
statements prepared using the current financial resources measurement focus;
Recognizing on-behalf payments for pensions or OPEB in employer financial statements;
Classifying employer-paid member contributions for OPEB;
Presenting payroll-related measures in required supplementary information for purposes of reporting
by OPEB plans and employers that provide OPEB;
Simplifying certain aspects of the alternative measurement method for OPEB; and
Accounting and financial reporting for OPEB provided through certain multiple-employer defined
benefit OPEB plans.

Statement No. 85 became effective for the District beginning in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. The
implementation of this statement did not have a material financial statement impact.
In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the
information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by
governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the
contract. This Statement establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle
that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to
recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a
lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of
information about a government’s leasing activities. Statement No. 87 will be effective for the
District beginning in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. The District is currently evaluating the
financial statement impact of adopting this statement.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
The District considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to
be cash equivalents.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable primarily consist of amounts due from providing electricity to the District’s customers
and are stated at the amount that management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Management
provides for probable uncollectible amounts through an allowance for doubtful accounts. Additions to the
allowance for doubtful accounts are based on management’s judgment, considering historical write-offs,
reviews of specific past-due accounts, collections and current credit conditions. Generally, the District
considers accounts receivable past due after 30 days. Balances which remain outstanding after management
has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the allowance for doubtful accounts
and a credit to the applicable accounts receivable. Payments received on accounts receivable subsequent to
being written off are recorded as a bad debt recovery. Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts have
not been material to the financial statements.
Materials and Supplies Inventory
Materials and supplies inventory, which consists primarily of items for construction and maintenance of
electric plant, is recorded at the lower of weighted average cost or net realizable value. Useable materials
from plant retirements are returned to inventory at current weighted average cost.
Restricted and Board Designated Assets
Restricted assets consist of assets that are restricted by bond covenants or third-party contractual agreements.
Assets that are allocated by resolution of the Commissioners are considered to be board designated. Board
designated accounts are a component of unrestricted assets, as their use may be redirected at any time by
approval of the Commissioners.
Net Utility Plant
Utility plant is recorded at cost, which includes contracted work, direct labor and materials, and allocable
overhead. Major additions and betterments to general plant with a cost of $5,000 or more are capitalized.
Costs of routine repairs and maintenance that do not improve or extend the useful lives of the related assets,
and the replacement and renewal of items determined to be less than units of plant, are charged to
maintenance as incurred.
Overhead costs, including indirect labor, payroll burden, transportation charges and stores expense, are
charged to construction and retirements monthly on a prorated basis.
Depreciation of utility plant is calculated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, ranging from 3 to 38 years. Composite rates are used for asset groups of utility plant. At the time of
retirement or sale of depreciable assets, the original cost is removed from utility plant and the cost plus the
cost of removal, less net salvage or insurance recovery, is removed from accumulated depreciation.
When general plant assets are retired, sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business, their
net book value is removed from utility plant and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized.
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Deferred Charges and Deferred Credits
The Commissioners have the authority to establish the level of rates charged for all District services. As a
regulated entity, the District’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with ASC Topic 980,
Regulated Operations, which requires that the effects of the rate-making process be recorded in the financial
statements. Accordingly, certain expenses and credits, normally reflected in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position, are recognized when included in rates and recovered from, or
refunded to, customers. The District records various regulatory assets and credits to reflect rate-making
actions of the Commissioners.
Investments
Investments in associated organizations are recorded at the face value of capital credits allocated and not
retired. Marketable securities are carried at fair market value.
Fair Value Measurements
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, established a fair value hierarchy for
those assets and liabilities measured at fair value, that distinguishes between assumptions based on market
data (observable inputs) and the organization’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy
consists of: Level 1 – quoted market prices in active markets for identical instruments; Level 2 – inputs other
than Level 1 inputs that are observable; and Level 3 – unobservable inputs developed using estimates and
assumptions determined by the organization. At December 31, 2018, the assets or liabilities of the District
that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized as follows:
Level 1
U.S. Treasuries
Mortgage-backed securities

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

994,494 $
--

-- $
2,559,521

-- $
--

994,494
2,559,521

$

994,494 $

2,559,521 $

-- $

3,554,015

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at
fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances (for
example, when there is evidence of impairment). The District had no assets measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis during 2018.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets
Management of the District periodically reviews the net carrying value of its assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset might not be recoverable.
These reviews consider the net realizable value of each asset to determine whether an impairment in value has
occurred, and whether there is a need for any asset impairment write-down. Impaired assets are reported at the
lower of cost or fair value. At December 31, 2018, no assets were considered to be impaired.
Deferred Financing Costs
Costs associated with the issuance of bonds are expensed in the year incurred. Original issue and reacquired
bond premiums and discounts related to bonds are amortized over the terms of the respective bonds.
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Compensated Absences
The District provides its employees with personal time off (PTO) in lieu of vacation and sick leave. PTO is
recorded as an expense and a liability as the benefits accrue. PTO may be deferred and taken in subsequent
years, however PTO time accrued may not exceed 900 hours for union employees and 488 hours for nonunion employees. Both union and non-union employees must schedule and use at least five days of PTO in
each calendar year during their first five years of employment. After five years of employment, union and
non-union employees must schedule and use at least 10 and 15 days, respectively, of PTO annually thereafter.
The District’s PTO policy includes an annual buy-out provision. All accumulated PTO is payable upon
resignation, termination, retirement or death.
Revenue and Cost Recognition
The District records revenue billed to its customers when the meters are read each month. Substantially all of
the District’s customers’ meters were read as of December 31, 2018. Accordingly, management believes that
any unbilled revenue would not be material to the financial statements, and therefore has not provided an
accrual for unbilled accounts receivable.
Expenses are recorded when the liabilities for goods or services received are incurred.
Taxes
As a political subdivision of the State of Washington, the District is exempt from Federal income taxes. The
State of Washington assesses Excise and Privilege taxes on the District. Payments in lieu of taxes are made to
local governments.
Clearing Accounts
Overhead costs, including indirect labor, payroll burden, insurance, depreciation, transportation charges and
stores expense, are charged to clearing accounts each month. Amounts charged to the clearing accounts are
allocated to construction in progress and expense accounts based on equipment usage, labor charges or
material issuances, depending on the nature of the charge, in accordance with rates established by the
Commissioners.
Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the District to concentration of credit risk consist principally
of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
The District maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts at high quality financial institutions. At times, deposit
account balances may exceed federally insured limits. The District has not experienced any losses from such
accounts and the District’s management believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents.
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Credit Risk, Continued
Credit is extended to customers, generally without collateral requirements, although deposits are required
from certain customers and formal shut-off policies and procedures are in place. Concentration of credit risk
with respect to consumer receivables is limited due to the District’s large number of customers. However,
approximately 16% of the District’s electric sales were made to six commercial customers during 2018. At
December 31, 2018, these commercial customers owed the District $284,765 for electric service, of which
$67,190 remains unpaid as of May 29, 2019.
Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management of the District to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Accordingly, actual results could
differ from those estimates and affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. The District has used
significant estimates in the determination of the allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable, depreciable
lives of utility plant, payroll-related liabilities and regulatory assets and liabilities, if any.
Subsequent Events
The District has evaluated subsequent events through the date as of which these financial statements were
available to be issued. Except as described in Notes 7 and 11, no material subsequent events have occurred
since December 31, 2018 that required recognition or disclosure in these financial statements.
3.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and deposits held in checking accounts at local banks, plus
cash held by the State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). Custodial credit risk is the
risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may not be returned to it. The District’s deposits
are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 at each bank at
December 31, 2018 or by collateral held in a multiple financial institution pool administered by the
Washington Public Deposit Protection Commission (PDPC).
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents on the District’s books at December 31, 2018 was
$3,715,559 (including restricted and Board Designated cash of $2,206,000; see Note 5). Bank and LGIP
balances totaled $3,733,700 at that date. The differences between the carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents on the District’s books and the combined balances per the banks and the LGIP consisted of
outstanding checks, warrants and deposits not processed by the banks and the LGIP as of December 31, 2018.
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At times, deposits may exceed federally insured limits. The District has not experienced any losses on bank
balances and management believes cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to significant credit risk.
A summary of the bank and the LGIP account balances at December 31, 2018 is as follows:
Portion insured by the FDIC
Portion collateralized and administered by the PDPC
Uninsured balances

4.

$

250,310
1,396,457
2,086,933

$

3,733,700

$

1,252,120
109,819

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following at December 31, 2018:
Electric service
Other

1,361,939
(60,862)

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts
$
5.

1,301,077

Restricted and Board Designated Cash and Cash Equivalents

At December 31, 2018, the District has certain accounts that are classified as Restricted and Board Designated
Cash and Cash Equivalents. The bond sinking funds represent a restriction resulting from bond covenants.
The vehicle replacement funds are a component of unrestricted assets, as their use may be redirected at any
time by approval of the Commissioners. The other amounts have been accrued as liabilities in the Statement
of Net Position.
Bond sinking funds (see Note 9)
Vehicle replacement funds
Consumer deposits
Customer contributions in aid to construction
Customer energy prepayments
Unclaimed property

$

1,147,349
650,058
145,690
177,322
85,277
304

$

2,206,000
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Net utility plant activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:
Balance
December 31,
2017
Transmission plant
Distribution plant
General plant
Accumulated depreciation

$

97,409
37,469,163
2,380,225
(14,620,919)
25,325,878

Land
Intangibles
Construction in progress

Additions
$

-845,720
329,782
(1,294,423)

Transfers
$

(118,921)

222,145
5,249
1,180,140

--2,802,132

$ 26,733,412

$ 2,683,211

Disposals

-3,088,303
392,090
--

$

3,480,393
--(3,480,393)
$

Balance
December 31,
2018

--

$

-- $
97,409
(382,532)
41,020,654
(53,319)
3,048,778
722,136
(15,193,206)
286,285

28,973,635

----

222,145
5,249
501,879

286,285

$ 29,702,908

Total depreciation for 2018 was $1,294,423. Depreciation on transportation and work equipment is allocated
to clearing accounts, and subsequently charged to construction work orders or maintenance expense.
Depreciation on transportation and work equipment that was allocated to clearing accounts, and subsequently
charged to construction work orders or maintenance expense totaled $98,577 in 2018.
7.

Investments

Investments consist of the following at December 31, 2018:
Investments in associated organizations
Marketable securities

$

74,150
3,554,015

$

3,628,165

Investments in associated organizations consist of patronage capital credits from Federated Rural Electric
Insurance Exchange Cooperative (Federated) in the amount of $74,150 at December 31, 2018.
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Marketable securities consist of the following at December 31, 2018:
Federal Home Loan Bank, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 2.875%,
maturing in August 2021, rated Aaa by Moody
Federal Farm Credit Bank, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.040%
maturing in March 2023, rated Aaa by Moody
Resolution Funding Corporation strips, bearing interest at a fixed rate
of 2.728%, maturing in July 2020, not rated
United States Treasury note, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1.750%,
maturing in September 2019, rated Aaa by Moody

$

600,221
999,994
959,306
994,494

$

3,554,015

The marketable securities listed above were purchased in September 2018 for a combined amount of
$3,567,603, including purchased accrued interest totaling $23,299 and a net discount of $55,696.
Marketable securities have the following maturities at December 31, 2018:
Maturities (in Years)
Less than
1

1

2

Total
2018

3

United States Treasury note
Mortgage-backed securities

$

994,494
999,994

$

---

$

-959,306

$

-600,221

$

994,494
2,559,521

Total

$ 1,994,488

$

--

$

959,306

$

600,221

$ 3,554,015

Although the Federal Farm Credit Bank security was set to mature in March 2023, it was called and redeemed
in March 2019. Accordingly, it is included in the “less than one year” category in the maturity table shown
above.
8.

Losses on Reacquired Debt

During 2005, the District issued Series 2005 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds to advance refund
Series 1996 and Series 1999 Electric Revenue Bonds. In connection with these transactions, the District
recorded losses on reacquired debt of $243,682. This amount, which is included in deferred outflows of
resources in the Statement of Net Position, is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life
of the original debt. During 2018, amortization of the losses on reacquired debt totaled $23,991. The
amortization of the losses has been included in other deductions in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position.
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During 2015, the District issued a $6,350,419 Series 2015 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond. The bond
was issued at par, and bears interest at 2.31%. The proceeds from the Series 2015 Electric Revenue and
Refunding Bond were primarily used to retire the outstanding principal balance of previously-issued Series
2005 Electric Revenue Bonds.
During 2013, the District issued $4,220,000 of Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds. The
bonds were issued at a premium of $140,132, and bear interest at rates which vary from 2.00% to 4.00%. A
portion of the proceeds from the Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds was used to retire the
outstanding principal balance of previously-issued Series 2002 Electric Revenue Bonds. The premium
received on the bonds is being amortized over the life of the new bonds (240 months). During 2018,
amortization of the premium on the bonds totaled $6,836. This amount has been recorded as a reduction of
interest expense in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
At December 31, 2018, the District held $1,147,349 of cash restricted for bond repayment as required by the
bond covenants (see Note 5). The District is in compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions
associated with the bonds, including the debt service coverage of 1.25. Debt service coverage was 2.65 at
December 31, 2018.
A summary of changes in long-term obligations of the District for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as
follows:
Long-Term
Obligations
December 31,
2017
Series 2009 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bonds
$ 2,790,000
Series 2013 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bonds
3,075,000
Premium on issuance of 2013
Electric Revenue and
Refunding Bonds
108,631
Series 2015 Electric Revenue
and Refunding Bond
5,519,989
$ 11,493,620

Long-Term
Obligations
Incurred
$

$

--

Long-Term
Long-Term
Obligations
Obligations
December 31,
Paid/Amortized
2018
(165,000)

$ 2,625,000

--

(300,000)

2,775,000

310,000

--

(6,836)

101,795

--

--

(414,735)

5,105,254

429,315

(886,571)

$ 10,607,049

--

$

Due
Within
One
Year

$

$

$

170,000

909,315
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Future debt service requirements as of December 31, 2018 are summarized as follows:

Principal

Interest

Total

Series 2009 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 - 2028
2029 - 2030

$

170,000
175,000
185,000
195,000
200,000
1,155,000
545,000

$

120,119
112,891
105,016
96,703
88,063
285,459
27,625

$

290,119
287,891
290,016
291,703
288,063
1,440,459
572,625

2,625,000

835,876

3,460,876

310,000
310,000
315,000
325,000
115,000
625,000
775,000

83,106
76,906
70,656
64,053
58,300
219,500
79,500

393,106
386,906
385,656
389,053
173,300
844,500
854.500

2,775,000

652,021

3,427,021

429,315
423,037
431,417
439,162
450,607
2,414,446
517,270

117,931
108,014
98,242
88,276
78,131
229,648
11,949

547,246
531,051
529,659
527,438
528,738
2,644,094
529,219

5,105,254

732,191

5,837,445

909,315
908,037
931,417
959,162
765,607
4,194,446
1,837,270

321,156
297,811
273,914
249,032
224,494
734,607
119,074

1,230,471
1,205,848
1,205,331
1,208,194
990,101
4,929,053
1,956,344

$ 10,505,254

$ 2,220,088

$ 12,725,342

Series 2013 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bonds:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 - 2028
2029 - 2033
Series 2015 Electric Revenue and Refunding Bond:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 - 2028
2029 - 2033
Combined Totals:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 - 2028
2029 - 2033
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3
Overview
The following table represents the aggregate pension amounts for all plans subject to the requirements of the
GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions for the year 2018:
Aggregate Pension Amounts – All Plans
Pension liabilities
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred inflows of resources
Pension expense

$

748,788
182,376
299,926
95,741

All the District’s full-time and qualifying part-time employees participate in one of the statewide retirement
systems administered by the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems, under cost-sharing,
multiple-employer public employee defined benefit retirement plans. Public Employees’ Retirement System
(PERS) retirement benefit provisions are established in Chapters 41.34 RCW and 41.40 RCW and may be
amended only by the State Legislature.
The Department of Retirement Systems (DRS), a department within the primary government of the State of
Washington, issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for each plan. The DRS CAFR may be obtained by
writing to: Department of Retirement Systems, Communications Unit, P.O. Box 48380, Olympia, WA 985048380, or it may be downloaded from the DRS website at www.drs.wa.gov.
Plan Description
The Legislature established PERS in 1947. Membership in the system includes elected officials; state
employees; employees of the Supreme, Appeals, and Superior courts; employees of the legislature; employees
of district and municipal courts; and employees of local governments. Membership also includes higher
education employees not participating in higher education retirement programs.
PERS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer retirement system comprised of three separate plans for
membership purposes: Plans 1 and 2 are defined benefit plans and Plan 3 is a defined benefit plan with a
defined contribution component.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Plan Description, Continued
PERS Plan 1 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are determined as 2% of
the member’s average final compensation (AFC) times the member’s years of service. The AFC is the
average of the member’s 24 highest consecutive service months. Members are eligible for retirement from
active status at any age with at least 30 years of service, at age 55 with at least 25 years of service, or at age
60 with at least five years of service. Members retiring from active status prior to the age of 65 may receive
actuarially reduced benefits. Retirement benefits are actuarially reduced to reflect the choice of a survivor
benefit. Other benefits include duty and non-duty disability payments, an optional cost-of-living adjustment
(COLA), and a one-time duty-related death benefit, if found eligible by the Department of Labor and
Industries. PERS 1 members were vested after the completion of five years of eligible service. The plan was
closed to new entrants on September 30, 1977.
PERS Plan 2/3 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are determined as 2% of
the member’s AFC times the member’s years of service for Plan 2 and 1% of AFC for Plan 3. The AFC is the
average of the member’s 60 highest-paid consecutive service months. There is no cap on years of service
credit. Members are eligible for retirement with a full benefit at 65 with at least five years of service credit.
Retirement before age 65 is considered an early retirement. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have at least 20
years of service credit and are 55 years of age or older, are eligible for early retirement with a benefit that is
reduced by a factor that varies according to age for each year before age 65. PERS Plan 2/3 members who
have 30 or more years of service credit and are at least 55 years old can retire under one of two provisions:
x
x

With a benefit that is reduced by 3% for each year before age 65; or
With a benefit that has a smaller (or no) reduction (depending on age) that imposes stricter return-towork rules.

PERS Plan 2/3 members hired on or after May 1, 2013 have the option to retire early by accepting a reduction
of 5% for each year of retirement before age 65. This option is available only to those who are age 55 or older
and have at least 30 years of service credit. PERS Plan 2/3 retirement benefits are also actuarially reduced to
reflect the choice of a survivor benefit. Other PERS Plan 2/3 benefits include duty and non-duty disability
payments, a cost-of-living allowance (based on the CPI), capped at 3% annually and a one-time duty-related
death benefit, if found eligible by the Department of Labor and Industries. PERS 2 members are vested after
completing 5 years of eligible service. Plan 3 members are vested in the defined benefit portion of their plan
after 10 years of service; or after five years of service if 12 months of that service are earned after age 44.
PERS Plan 3 defined contribution benefits are totally dependent on employee contributions and investment
earnings on those contributions. PERS Plan 3 members choose their contribution rate upon joining
membership and have a chance to change rates upon changing employers. As established by statute, Plan 3
required defined contribution rates are set at a minimum of 5% and escalate to 15% with a choice of six
options. Employers do not contribute to the defined contribution benefits. PERS Plan 3 members are
immediately vested in the defined contribution portion of their plan.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Funding Policy
The PERS Plan 1 member contribution rate is established by State statute at 6%. The employer contribution
rate is developed by the Office of the State Actuary and includes an administrative expense component that is
currently set at 0.18%. Each biennium, the state Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 1 employer
contribution rates.
The PERS Plan 2/3 employer and employee contribution rates are developed by the Office of the State
Actuary to fully fund Plan 2 and the defined benefit portion of Plan 3. The Plan 2/3 employer rates include a
component to address the PERS Plan 1 Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability and an administrative expense
that is currently set at 0.18%. Each biennium, the state Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 2 employer and
employee contribution rates and Plan 3 contribution rates.
The required contribution rates expressed as a percentage of current-year covered payroll, through August 31,
2018, were as follows:

Employer*
Employee
*
**
***
****
*****

PERS Plan 1

PERS Plan 2

PERS Plan 3

12.70%**
6.00%****

12.70%**
7.38%****

12.70%***
*****

The employer rates include the employer administrative expense fee currently set at 0.18%.
The employer rate for state elected officials is 18.96% for Plan 1 and 12.70% for Plan 2 and Plan 3.
Plan 3 defined benefit portion only.
The employee rate for state elected officials is 7.50% for Plan 1 and 7.38% for Plan 2.
Variable from 5.0% minimum to 15.0% maximum based on rate selected by the PERS 3 member.

Effective September 1, 2018, the required contribution rates increased and are expressed as a percentage of
current-year covered payroll, through December 31, 2018, as follows:

Employer*
Employee
*
**
***
****
*****

PERS Plan 1

PERS Plan 2

PERS Plan 3

12.83%**
6.00%****

12.83%**
7.41%****

12.83%***
*****

The employer rates include the employer administrative expense fee currently set at 0.18%.
The employer rate for state elected officials is 19.16% for Plan 1 and 12.83% for Plan 2 and Plan 3.
Plan 3 defined benefit portion only.
The employee rate for state elected officials is 7.50% for Plan 1 and 7.41% for Plan 2.
Variable from 5.0% minimum to 15.0% maximum based on rate selected by the PERS 3 member.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Funding Policy, Continued
Both the District and the employees made the required contributions. The District’s actual contributions, less
administrative expense fees, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2018
2017
2016

PERS 1
$

78,850
70,982
63,210

PERS 2/3
$

116,813
99,552
79,405

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
The total pension liability (TPL) for each of the PERS plans was determined using the most recent actuarial
valuations completed in 2018 with a valuation date of June 30, 2017. The actuarial assumptions used in the
valuation were based on the results of the Office of the State Actuary’s (OSA) 2007-2012 Experience Study
and the 2017 Economic Experience Study.
Additional assumptions for subsequent events and law changes are current as of the 2017 actuarial valuation
report. The TPL was calculated as of the valuation date and rolled forward to the measurement date of
June 30, 2018. Plan liabilities were rolled forward from June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018, reflecting each plan’s
normal cost (using the entry-age cost method), assumed interest and actual benefit payments.
x
x
x

Inflation: 2.75% total economic inflation; 3.50% salary inflation
Salary increases: In addition to the base 3.50% salary inflation assumption, salaries are also expected
to grow by promotions and longevity
Investment rate of return: 7.40%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 report’s Combined Healthy Table and Combined Disabled Table,
published by the Society of Actuaries. OSA applied offsets to the base table and recognized future
improvements in mortality by projecting the mortality rates using 100% Scale BB. Mortality rates are applied
on a generational basis; meaning, each member is assumed to receive additional mortality improvements in
each future year throughout his or her lifetime.

Page 77

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued
December 31, 2018
10.

Employee Benefit Plans, Continued

Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for all PERS plans was 7.40%. To determine that
rate, an asset sufficiency test was completed to test whether each pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
sufficient to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Consistent with current law,
the asset sufficiency test included an assumed 7.50% long-term discount rate to determine funding liabilities
for calculating future contribution rate requirements. Consistent with the long-term expected rate of return, a
7.40% future investment rate of return on invested assets was assumed for the test. Contributions from plan
members and employers are assumed to continue being made at contractually required rates (including PERS
2/3 employers, whose rates include a component for the PERS 1, plan liability). Based on these assumptions,
the pension plans’ fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return of 7.40% was used to
determine the total liability.
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return
OSA selected a 7.40% long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments using a building-blockmethod. In selecting this assumption, OSA reviewed the historical experience data, considered the historical
conditions that produced past annual investment returns, and considered Capital Market Assumptions
(CMAs) and simulated expected investment returns provided by the Washington State Investment Board
(WSIB). The CMAs contain three pieces of information for each class of assets WSIB currently invests in,
including expected annual return; standard deviation of the annual return; and correlations between the annual
returns of each asset class with every other asset class. The WSIB uses the capital market assumptions and
their target asset allocation to simulate future investment returns at various future times.
Estimated Rates of Return by Asset Class
Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target
asset allocation as of June 30, 2018, are summarized in the table below. The inflation component used to
create the table is 2.20% and represents WSIB’s most recent long-term estimate of broad economic inflation.
Asset Class
Fixed income
Tangible assets
Real estate
Global equity
Private equity
Total

Target
Allocation
20.00%
7.00%
18.00%
32.00%
23.00%

Long-Term Expected Real
Rate of Return
1.70%
4.90%
5.80%
6.30%
9.30%

100.00%
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Net Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
At December 31, 2018, the District reported a total net pension liability of $748,788 for its proportionate
share of the net pension liabilities, as follows:
PERS 1
PERS 2/3

$

503,143
245,645

Total

$

748,788

The District’s proportionate shares of the collective net pension liability for the measurement dates of
June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

PERS 1
PERS 2/3

Proportionate
Share
June 30, 2018

Proportionate
Share
June 30, 2017

Change in
Proportionate
Share

0.0112660%
0.0143870%

0.0105380%
0.0132477%

0.0007280%
0.0011393%

Employer contribution transmittals received and processed by DRS for the PERS fiscal year ended June 30
are used as the basis for determining each employer’s proportionate share of the collective pension amounts
reported by DRS in the Schedules of Employer and Nonemployer Allocations.
The collective net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the actuarial valuation date on
which the total pension liability is based was as of June 30, 2017, with update procedures used to roll forward
the total pension liability to the measurement date.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the District recognized pension expense (revenue) as follows:
PERS 1
PERS 2/3

$

80,068
15,672

Total

$

95,740

Pension expense allocated to clearing accounts totaled $10,376 in 2018.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Net Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions, Continued
At December 31, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources

PERS 1
Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date
Net difference between projected and actual
investment earnings on pension plan investments

$

40,625

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$

--

--

19,995

59,894
48,873
30,110
2,874

-16,275
43,008
69,909

--

150,739

PERS 2/3
Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date
Net change in proportionate share
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Net difference between projected and actual
investment earnings on pension plan investments
Total

$

182,376

$

299,926

The amounts reported at December 31, 2018 as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting
from employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, totaling $100,519, will be recognized
as a reduction of the net pension liability and pension expense in the year ending December 31, 2018.
At December 31, 2018, other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

PERS 1

PERS 2/3

Total

$

875
(4,371)
(13,116)
(3,383)
---

$

(12,499)
(46,168)
(88,425)
(30,325)
(8,805)
(11,852)

$

(11,624)
(50,539)
(101,541)
(33,708)
(8,805)
(11,852)

$

(19,995)

$

(198,074)

$

(218,069)

The average of the expected remaining service lives (in years) of all employees that are provided with
pensions through the Plans (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 2017, the beginning of the
measurement period ended June 30, 2018, is zero and 7.2 years for PERS 1 and PERS 2/3, respectively.
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Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) Plans 1, 2 and 3, Continued
Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate
The following table presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability at December 31,
2018 calculated using the discount rate of 7.4%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one
percentage point higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(6.4%)
District’s proportionate share of:
PERS 1 net pension liability
PERS 2/3 net pension liability
Total

Current Rate
(7.4%)

1% Increase
(8.4%)

$

618,332
1,123,587

$

503,143
245,645

$

403,367
(474,169)

$

1,741,919

$

748,788

$

(70,802)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Detailed information about the State’s pension plans’ fiduciary net position is available in the separately
issued DRS financial report.
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Other Postemployment Benefits
GASB Statement No. 75 (GASB No. 75), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions, established standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of
resources, deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures by state and local governments for
postemployment benefits other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB). For defined benefit
OPEB, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit
payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value
to periods of employee service. The District has one OPEB plan that is accounted for in accordance with
GASB No. 75, as described below.
Plan Description
In addition to the pension benefits described above, the District participates in a defined benefit plan
administered by the Health Care Authority (HCA), which provides medical, prescription drug, dental, vision,
disability and long-term care coverage. Per RCW 41.05.065, the Public Employees Benefits Board (PEBB),
created within the HCA, is authorized to design benefits and determine the terms and conditions of employee
and retired employee participation and coverage. PEBB establishes eligibility criteria for both active
employees and retirees, and offers retirees access to all benefits administered by HCA. However, PEBB
employers primarily provide monetary assistance, or subsidies, only for medical, prescription drug and vision
insurance.
The relationship between the PEBB plan and its member employers and their employees and retirees is not
formalized in a contract or plan document. Rather, the benefits are provided in accordance with a substantive
plan. A substantive plan is one in which the plan terms are understood by the employers and plan members.
This understanding is based on communications between the HCA, employers and plan members, and the
historical pattern of practice regarding the sharing of benefit costs.
GASB No. 75 establishes the standards for measurement, recognition and reporting of non-pension
postemployment benefits, including medical, dental and vision insurance benefits offered to retirees. The
ability for retirees to obtain coverage at rates similar to active employees constitutes a significant economic
benefit to retirees. GASB No. 75 requires that the District recognize the implicit cost of its retiree
postemployment benefit plan during the period of the employee’s active employment while the benefits are
being earned.
The Office of the State Actuary, a department within the primary government of the State of Washington,
issues a publicly available Other Post-Employment Benefits Actuarial Valuation Report. The Other PostEmployment Benefits Actuarial Valuation Report may be obtained by writing to: Office of the State Actuary,
P.O. Box 40914, Olympia, Washington 98504-0914, or it may be downloaded from the Office of the State
Actuary website at http://leg.wa.gov/OSA.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
Plan Description, Continued
Subsidies
The HCA administers PEBB plan benefits. For medical insurance coverage, the HCA has two claims pools:
one covering employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees, and the other covering retirees enrolled in
Medicare Parts A and B. Each participating employer pays a portion of the premiums for active employees.
For retirees, participating employers provide two different subsidies: an explicit subsidy and an implicit
subsidy.
The explicit subsidy permitted under RCW 41.05.085 is a fixed dollar amount for a specific group of retirees.
The explicit subsidy lowers the monthly premium paid by retired members enrolled in Medicare Parts A and
B. PEBB determines the amount of the explicit subsidy annually. The explicit subsidy was $150 per member
per month for both 2018 and 2017.
The implicit subsidy established under RCW 41.05.022 is more complex because it is not a direct payment
from the employer on behalf of the retiree. Because retirees covered by the implicit subsidy pay premiums
based on claims experience for employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees who are typically younger and
healthier, their premiums are lower than they would be if they were insured separately. The subsidy is the
difference between the age-based claims costs and the premium paid by the retirees.
Administrative costs, as well as explicit and implicit subsidies, are funded by required contributions from
participating employers. The subsidies provide monetary assistance for medical benefits. Contributions are set
each biennium as part of the State’s budget process. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the
criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. The District covers OPEB costs when they come due, on a
pay-as-you-go basis.
Because the District has fewer than 100 employees (active and inactive) that are provided with OPEB through
the plan, the District qualifies to use the alternative measurement method for calculating the OPEB liability.
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms
As of December 31, 2018, the following employees are covered by the benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments
Active employees

2
0
18
20

The active employees have an average age of 48.9 as of December 31, 2018, and an average of 4.9 years of
service.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense (Expense Offset), and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
As of December 31, 2018, the District reported a total OPEB liability of $476,959 related to this plan. The
total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2018 and was determined by using the alternative
measurement method.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the District recognized OPEB expense of $28,830 related to this plan.
Since the District records costs as they come due, there are no deferred outflows of resources for contributions
to the OPEB plan. In accordance with the alternative measurement method, no deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from any other sources are reported.
Actuarial Assumptions
The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined using the following assumptions and other
inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Discount rate*:
Beginning of measurement year
End of measurement year

3.58%
3.87%

Projected salary changes

3.75% + service-based increases

Healthcare cost trend rate**:

Initial rate is approximately 7%,
trends down to about 5% in 2080

Mortality rates:
Base mortality table
Age setback
Mortality improvements
Projection period
Inflation rate

Healthy RP-2000
1 year
100% Scale BB
Generational
3%

Post-retirement participation percentage

65%

Percentage with spouse coverage

45%

*
**

Source: Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index.
TrenG rate assumptions vary slightly by medical plan. For additional detail on the healthcare
trend rates, see Office of the State Actuary’s 2017 PEBB OPEB Actuarial Valuation Report.
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Other Postemployment Benefits, Continued
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
The following table shows the changes in the total OPEB liability for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2018:
Total OPEB obligation, beginning of year

$ 451,505

Service cost
Interest
Changes in experience data and assumptions
Benefit payments

40,238
17,545
(28,953)
(3,376)

Increase in total OPEB liability

25,454

Total OPEB obligation, end of year

$ 476,959

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the total OPEB liability reported by the District calculated using the discount rate of
3.87%, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower or higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(2.87%)
Employer’s proportionate share of
the total OPEB liability (asset)

$

Current Rate
(3.87%)

581,137 $

476,959

1% Increase
(4.87%)
$

395,618

The following presents the total OPEB liability reported by the District calculated using the current healthcare
cost trend rate, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost
trend rate that is one percentage point lower or higher than the current rate:
1% Decrease
Employer’s proportionate share of
the total OPEB liability (asset)

$

Current Rate

383,823 $

476,959

1% Increase
$

601,703
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Deferred Compensation Plans
The District offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Code Section 457. This plan permits eligible employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
Deferred compensation is available to employees following separation of employment, retirement, death, or
unforeseeable emergency without penalty. The plan assets are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of Plan
participants and beneficiaries and as such are not included in the District’s financial statements.
The District also sponsors a 401(k) Plan that is funded by contributions from the District and participating
employees. The benefits available upon retirement depend on the amounts contributed by the employees and
the performance of the investments chosen by the plan participants. The assets of the plan are the sole
property of the Plan participants and are not subject to the claims of the District’s general creditors. Plan
participants may obtain loans from their plan account which must be paid back during the period of their
employment. Other plan benefits are not available to plan participants until termination, retirement, or death.
Withdrawals may only be made following attainment of the retirement age of 59-½, disability, death, or
severance from employment. Distributions made before the age of 59-½ are subject to penalties.
The 401(k) Plan was “frozen” during 2015, pending a ruling by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regarding
certain plan provisions. Subsequently, the District’s contributions, and earnings thereon, were placed in a trust
account and employee deferrals were suspended until the IRS issued its ruling. During 2017, the IRS ruled
that the Plan was in compliance with applicable provisions and the Plan was “unfrozen.” Amounts that had
been placed in the trust account were released and were contributed to the Plan.
Contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were
as follows:
Employer
2018
2017
2016

$

98,065
291,692
--

Employee
$

80,071
10,855
--
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Pending Litigation
The District is occasionally named as a defendant in lawsuits arising principally in the normal course of
operations. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a material adverse
effect on the accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, no provision for loss has been recorded in
the financial statements.
During 2012, the District and Commissioners, along with the former General Manager, were named as codefendants in a lawsuit filed in Yakima County Superior Court, State of Washington (“the Court”), by a
former employee alleging age discrimination and wrongful termination and claiming damages of $2,000,000.
Management of the District believed the action was without merit and subsequently filed a motion for
dismissal of the charges with the Court; on May 15, 2015, an order of dismissal was granted. The order of
dismissal was appealed. On September 13, 2016, the Washington Court of Appeals, Division III, upheld the
order of summary judgement entered by the trial court. On October 19, 2017, the Washington Supreme Court
reversed the summary judgment dismissal. In February 2019, this matter was resolved in mediation to the
mutual satisfaction of the parties.
Risk Management
The District maintains insurance coverage against normal hazards through Federated. Insurance coverage
purchased through Federated includes:
All-risk Blanket:
Physical damage to property
Public liability
Crime coverage
Commercial Umbrella:
Occurrence limit
Directors, Officer, Managers:
Limit of liability

$ 9,023,098
2,000,000
4,000,000
20,000,000
7,000,000

Risks and Uncertainties
The District is subject to certain business risks that could have a material impact on future operations and
financial performance. These risks include prices on the wholesale market for short-term power; interest rates;
water conditions; weather and natural disaster-related disruptions; fish and other Endangered Species Act
issues; Environmental Protection Agency regulations; Federal government regulations or orders concerning
operations, maintenance and licensing of facilities; other governmental regulations; and the deregulation of
the electric utility industry.
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Power Purchase Contracts
Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) – During 2008, the District executed a new Power Sales Agreement
with Bonneville Power Administration (BPA). Under the wholesale power purchase contract, the District is
committed to purchase its BPA Tier 1 electric power and energy requirements from BPA through September
2028. BPA Tier 1 charges for the Load Following Product will be passed through to the District using BPA
billing determinants and including any credits or discounts such as low-density discounts and irrigation rate
mitigation program credits.
Grant County PUD – The District has an agreement with Grant County PUD to receive .14% of the output
from each of the Priest Rapids and Wanapum projects. The District has assigned the Priest Rapids and
Wanapum shares to BPA for the period from October 1, 2011 through September 30, 2019. BPA will manage
actual scheduled output from the District’s shares and provide credits and charges for generation amounts that
differ from the planned amounts. Under the terms of the contract with Grant County PUD, the District’s
payments are subject to annual "true up" adjustments at the end of each operating year. The 2018 "true up"
adjustment resulted in an additional payment to Grant County PUD in the amount of $9,322, which has been
accrued in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the December 31, 2018 Statement of Net Position.
Clallam County PUD – Effective October 1, 2011, the District entered into a contract with Clallam County
PUD to sell its .25% customer purchase allocation through 2028. Clallam County PUD is responsible for the
annual costs associated with the allocation.
Other Contracts and Agreements
The District is a party to various other contracts and agreements in connection with its operations, including
the following:
x
x
x
x
x

Puget Sound Energy (PSE) – interconnection services;
PSE and the City – mutual assistance agreements;
Grant County PUD No. 2 – power distribution;
U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation – power transmission service;
I-Net – usage and annual operational costs.
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GASB Statement No. 75 became effective for the District during 2018 (see Note 2). Implementation of GASB
Statement No. 75 impacted the District’s liabilities and net position for the year ended December 31, 2017.
For defined benefit OPEB, this Statement identifies the methods and assumptions that are required to be used
to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute
that present value to periods of employee service.
The effects of the retroactive implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 require a restatement of the
financial statements as of December 31, 2017, as follows:
As Previously
Reported

As
Restated

Statement of Net Position
Postretirement benefit obligation
Net position

$

126,352
22,364,773

$

451,505
22,039,620
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Plan Year

Employer's
Portion of NPL

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

0.0096178%
0.0110382%
0.0111806%
0.0105380%
0.0112660%
0.0118250%

Employer's
Proportionate
Share of NPL
(a)

$

484,500
577,402
600,449
500,036
503,143
454,713

Employer's
Covered
Employee Payroll
(b)

$

1,120,341
1,238,799
1,327,431
1,330,867
1,503,511
1,661,043

Employer's
NPL as a
Percentage of
Covered Payroll
( a/b )

Plan Net Position
as a Percentage
of Total Pension
Liability

43.25%
46.61%
45.23%
37.57%
33.46%
27.38%

59.10%
61.19%
57.03%
61.24%
63.22%
67.12%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
Data reported is measured as of June 30.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.
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Plan Year

Employer's
Portion of NPL

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

0.0118211%
0.0136484%
0.0137733%
0.0132477%
0.0143870%
0.0152780%

Employer's
Proportionate
Share of NPL
(a)

$

238,947
487,664
693,475
460,294
245,645
148,401

Employer's
Covered
Employee Payroll
(b)

$

1,096,645
1,215,319
1,305,478
1,211,605
1,503,511
1,661,043

Employer's
NPL as a
Percentage of
Covered Payroll
( a/b )

Plan Net Position
as a Percentage
of Total Pension
Liability

21.79%
40.13%
53.12%
37.99%
16.34%
8.93%

93.29%
89.20%
85.82%
90.97%
95.77%
97.77%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
Data reported is measured as of June 30.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.
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Schedule of Employer's Share of the Net Pension Liability - PERS Plan 1
Last 10 Plan Years *

Plan Year

Employer's
Portion of NPL

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

0.0096178%
0.0110382%
0.0111806%
0.0105380%
0.0112660%

Employer's
Proportionate
Share of NPL
(a)

$

484,500
577,402
600,449
500,036
503,143

Employer's
Covered
Employee Payroll
(b)

$

1,120,341
1,238,799
1,327,431
1,330,867
1,503,511

Employer's
NPL as a
Percentage of
Covered Payroll
( a/b )

Plan Net Position
as a Percentage
of Total Pension
Liability

43.25%
46.61%
45.23%
37.57%
33.46%

59.10%
61.19%
57.03%
61.24%
63.22%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
Data reported is measured as of June 30.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.

Page 92

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Employer's Share of the Net Pension Liability - PERS Plan 2/3
Last 10 Plan Years *

Plan Year

Employer's
Portion of NPL

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

0.0118211%
0.0136484%
0.0137733%
0.0132477%
0.0143870%

Employer's
Proportionate
Share of NPL
(a)

$

238,947
487,664
693,475
460,294
245,645

Employer's
Covered
Employee Payroll
(b)

$

1,096,645
1,215,319
1,305,478
1,211,605
1,503,511

Employer's
NPL as a
Percentage of
Covered Payroll
( a/b )

Plan Net Position
as a Percentage
of Total Pension
Liability

21.79%
40.13%
53.12%
37.99%
16.34%

93.29%
89.20%
85.82%
90.97%
95.77%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
Data reported is measured as of June 30.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.

Page 93

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Contributions - PERS Plan 1
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

Fiscal
Year

Statutorily
Required
Contributions
(a)

Actual
Contributions
(b)

*
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

$

Employer's
Covered
Employee
Payroll
(c)

Contributions
Deficiency
(Excess)
( a-b )

Contributions
as a Percentage
of Covered
Employee Payroll
( b/c )

**
34,024
49,796
57,084
63,210
70,982
78,850
82,367

$

34,024
49,796
57,084
63,210
70,982
78,850
82,367

$

-

$

1,010,785
1,203,972
1,268,950
1,296,506
1,447,558
1,557,570
1,661,548

3.37%
4.14%
4.50%
4.88%
4.90%
5.06%
4.96%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
* The calculation for statutorily required contributions has been reduced by the 0.18% that applies to the
employer administrative expense fee.
** A portion of the employer contribution for PERS Plan 2/3 is allocated to PERS Plan 1 to fund the
unfunded actuarially accrued liability as required by RCW 41.45.060.
Data reported is measured as of December 31.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.

Page 94

PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Contributions - PERS Plan 2/3
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

Fiscal
Year

Statutorily
Required
Contributions
(a)

Actual
Contributions
(b)

*
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

$

48,008
58,922
70,461
79,405
99,552
116,813
128,051

Employer's
Covered
Employee
Payroll
(c)

Contributions
Deficiency
(Excess)
( a-b )

Contributions
as a Percentage
of Covered
Employee Payroll
( b/c )

**
$

48,008
58,922
70,461
79,405
99,552
116,813
128,051

$

-

$

990,459
1,179,211
1,246,585
1,274,568
1,447,558
1,557,570
1,661,548

4.85%
5.00%
5.65%
6.23%
6.88%
7.50%
7.71%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
* The calculation for statutorily required contributions has been reduced by the 0.18% that applies to the
employer administrative expense fee.
** A portion of the employer contribution for PERS Plan 2/3 is allocated to PERS Plan 1 to fund the
unfunded actuarially accrued liability as required by RCW 41.45.060.
Data reported is measured as of December 31.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Contributions - PERS Plan 1
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

Fiscal
Year

Statutorily
Required
Contributions
(a)

Actual
Contributions
(b)

*
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

$

Employer's
Covered
Employee
Payroll
(c)

Contributions
Deficiency
(Excess)
( a-b )

Contributions
as a Percentage
of Covered
Employee Payroll
( b/c )

**
34,024
49,796
57,084
63,210
70,982
78,850

$

34,024
49,796
57,084
63,210
70,982
78,850

$

-

$

1,010,785
1,203,972
1,268,950
1,296,506
1,447,558
1,557,570

3.37%
4.14%
4.50%
4.88%
4.90%
5.06%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
* The calculation for statutorily required contributions has been reduced by the 0.18% that applies to the
employer administrative expense fee.
** A portion of the employer contribution for PERS Plan 2/3 is allocated to PERS Plan 1 to fund the
unfunded actuarially accrued liability as required by RCW 41.45.060.
Data reported is measured as of December 31.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Contributions - PERS Plan 2/3
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

Fiscal
Year

Statutorily
Required
Contributions
(a)

Actual
Contributions
(b)

*
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

$

48,008
58,922
70,461
79,405
99,552
116,813

Employer's
Covered
Employee
Payroll
(c)

Contributions
Deficiency
(Excess)
( a-b )

Contributions
as a Percentage
of Covered
Employee Payroll
( b/c )

**
$

48,008
58,922
70,461
79,405
99,552
116,813

$

-

$

990,459
1,179,211
1,246,585
1,274,568
1,447,558
1,557,570

4.85%
5.00%
5.65%
6.23%
6.88%
7.50%

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.
* The calculation for statutorily required contributions has been reduced by the 0.18% that applies to the
employer administrative expense fee.
** A portion of the employer contribution for PERS Plan 2/3 is allocated to PERS Plan 1 to fund the
unfunded actuarially accrued liability as required by RCW 41.45.060.
Data reported is measured as of December 31.

See Notes to PERS Plan Schedules.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to PERS Plan Schedules
December 31, 2019
1.

Changes in Benefit Terms

There were no changes in benefit terms during the Plan year ended June 30, 2019.
2.

Changes in Composition of the Population

There were no changes in the composition of the populations during the Plan year ended June 30, 2019.
3.

Changes in Assumptions

PERS lowered the assumed valuation interest rate from 7.70% to 7.50%, and the investment rate of return
from 7.50% to 7.40%. PERS also lowered the assumed total economic inflation rate from 3.00% to
2.75%, and the general salary inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.50%.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to PERS Plan Schedules
December 31, 2018
1.

Changes in Benefit Terms

There were no changes in benefit terms during the Plan year ended June 30, 2018.
2.

Changes in Composition of the Population

There were no changes in the composition of the populations during the Plan year ended June 30, 2018.
3.

Changes in Assumptions

PERS lowered the assumed valuation interest rate from 7.70% to 7.50%, and the investment rate of return
from 7.50% to 7.40%. PERS also lowered the assumed total economic inflation rate from 3.00% to
2.75%, and the general salary inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.50%.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - PEBB
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

2019
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year

$

476,959

2018
$

451,505

Service cost
Interest
Changes in benefit terms
Changes in exeperience data and assumptions
Benefit payments

28,586
19,403
186,276
(8,428)

40,238
17,545
(28,953)
(3,376)

Net change in total OPEB liability

225,837

25,454

Total OPEB liability, end of year

$

Employer's covered employee payroll

$ 1,729,987

702,796

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll

40.62%

$

476,959

$ 1,381,053
34.54%

* GASB Statement No. 75 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.

See Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - PEBB
Last 10 Fiscal Years *

2018
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year

$

Service cost
Interest
Changes in benefit terms
Changes in exeperience data and assumptions
Benefit payments

451,505
40,238
17,545
(28,953)
(3,376)

Net change in total OPEB liability

25,454

Total OPEB liability, end of year

$

Employer's covered employee payroll

$ 1,381,053

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll

476,959

34.54%

* GASB Statement No. 75 requires 10 years of information to be presented in this table. However, until
a full 10-year trend is compiled, the District will present information for those years for which information
is available.

See Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule
December 31, 2019
1.

Changes in Benefit Terms

There were no changes in benefit terms during the PEBB Plan year ended June 30, 2019.
2.

Changes in Assumptions

During the PEBB Plan year ended June 30, 2019, the PEBB revised the healthcare cost trend rates and
retiree contributions to reflect increases based on revised projections. The retiree contributions are in line
with the healthcare cost trend rates. In addition, the assumed interest rates are now based on the 20-year
municipal bond indices per GASB No. 75 requirements.
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PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF KITTITAS COUNTY
Notes to OPEB PEBB Plan Schedule
December 31, 2018
1.

Changes in Benefit Terms

There were no changes in benefit terms during the PEBB Plan year ended June 30, 2018.
2.

Changes in Assumptions

During the PEBB Plan year ended June 30, 2018, the PEBB revised the healthcare cost trend rates and
retiree contributions to reflect increases based on revised projections. The retiree contributions are in line
with the healthcare cost trend rates. In addition, the assumed interest rates are now based on the 20-year
municipal bond indices per GASB No. 75 requirements.

Page 103

ABOUT THE STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE
The State Auditor’s Office is established in the state’s Constitution and is part of the executive
branch of state government. The State Auditor is elected by the citizens of Washington and serves
four-year terms.
We work with our audit clients and citizens to achieve our vision of government that works for
citizens, by helping governments work better, cost less, deliver higher value, and earn greater
public trust.
In fulfilling our mission to hold state and local governments accountable for the use of public
resources, we also hold ourselves accountable by continually improving our audit quality and
operational efficiency and developing highly engaged and committed employees.
As an elected agency, the State Auditor’s Office has the independence necessary to objectively
perform audits and investigations. Our audits are designed to comply with professional standards
as well as to satisfy the requirements of federal, state, and local laws.
Our audits look at financial information and compliance with state, federal and local laws on the
part of all local governments, including schools, and all state agencies, including institutions of
higher education. In addition, we conduct performance audits of state agencies and local
governments as well as fraud, state whistleblower and citizen hotline investigations.
The results of our work are widely distributed through a variety of reports, which are available on
our website and through our free, electronic subscription service.
We take our role as partners in accountability seriously, and provide training and technical
assistance to governments, and have an extensive quality assurance program.

Contact information for the State Auditor’s Office
Public Records requests PublicRecords@sao.wa.gov
Main telephone (564) 999-0950
Toll-free Citizen Hotline (866) 902-3900
Website www.sao.wa.gov

Office of the Washington State Auditor
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